

JNCC Report 774

Quantification Approaches from Marine Imagery

Jaime S. Davies and Awantha Dissanayake

October 2024

© JNCC, Peterborough 2024

ISSN 0963 8091

JNCC's report series serves as a record of the work undertaken or commissioned by JNCC. The series also helps us to share, and promote the use of, our work and to develop future collaborations.

For further information on JNCC's report series please contact:

Joint Nature Conservation Committee Quay House 2 East Station Road Fletton Quays Peterborough PE2 8YY

https://jncc.gov.uk/

Communications@jncc.gov.uk

This report should be cited as:

Davies, J.S.¹ & Dissanayake, A.¹2024. Quantification Approaches from Marine Imagery. *JNCC Report* 774, JNCC, Peterborough, ISSN 0963-8091. https://hub.jncc.gov.uk/assets/973ae0c5-5388-466f-831f-a56b35745c97

Author affiliation:

¹ Galathea Marine Consultants, Plymouth, Devon, PL3 5JQ

Evidence Quality Assurance:

This report is compliant with JNCC's Evidence Quality Assurance Policy https://jncc.gov.uk/about-jncc/corporate-information/evidence-quality-assurance/

Whilst every effort is made to ensure that the information in this resource is complete, accurate and up-to-date, JNCC is not liable for any errors or omissions in the information and shall not be liable for any loss, injury or damage of any kind caused by its use. Whenever possible, JNCC will act on any inaccuracies that are brought to its attention and endeavour to correct them in subsequent versions of the resource but cannot guarantee the continued supply of the information.

This report and any accompanying material is published by JNCC under the <u>Open</u> <u>Government Licence</u> (OGLv3.0 for public sector information), unless otherwise stated. Note that some images may not be copyright JNCC; please check sources for conditions of reuse.

The views and recommendations presented in this report do not necessarily reflect the views and policies of JNCC.

Summary

Monitoring of benthic habitats requires the ability to be able to survey ecosystems using methods which are not only cost effective, but also efficient, appropriate for the habitat type and the purpose of the survey. The scope of the present report was to summarise various commonly employed quantification techniques used to analyse still imagery, gaining knowledge and guidance from the literature, and presented in a format which can be used as guidance when planning survey work. A literature review was undertaken systemically using the PRISMA framework using a keyword search to identify literature. From the relevant literature identified during the review, information regarding quantification approaches, advantages/disadvantages, etc. were extracted and terms standardised to allow comparability. Five main quantification categories were summarised, ranging from qualitative to fully quantitative methods: Presence/Absence, SACFOR, Point count, Frequency of Occurrence and abundance (count, biomass and seabed cover).

For each of the quantification techniques, a clear definition, with both the advantages and disadvantages provides a useful comparison between techniques and when they may be appropriate to use. Deciding which technique is appropriate is linked to the purpose of the survey/monitoring, so pre-survey consideration is essential to ensure the best use of data. For example, while Presence/Absence (P/A) is the least time consuming of the techniques, it provides the lowest resolution of data and fewer statistical tests can be applied. Although, if using indicator species to monitor changes in ecosystem, P/A quantification can be the most effective technique to use. The literature review identified the lack of use of standardised terms when reporting quantification techniques applied to studies, making interpretation difficult at times, and often little or no justification of choice of methods were reported. Several case studies, as exemplars of the most-commonly used techniques are provided, that help inform design of monitoring studies to appropriately survey ecosystems using methods which are not only cost effective, but also efficient and appropriate for the habitat and taxa type.

Contents

Summary	C
1 Introduction	1
2 Gap analysis	4
2.1 PRISMA framework	4
3 Quantification techniques	10
3.1 Presence/Absence	10
3.2 SACFOR	11
3.3 Frequency of Occurrence	12
3.4 Point Count	13
3.5 Abundance	15
3.5.1 Abundance count	15
3.5.2 Numerical biomass	15
3.5.3 Seabed cover	16
4. Case studies	20
4 Limitations and recommendations	33
4.1 Considerations, prior to data collection	33
4.2 Recommendations	34
4.2.1 Use of standardised terminology	34
4.2.2 Validation of methods	34
4.2.3 Testing site-specific protocols	35
References	36
Appendix	45
PRISMA Framework	45
Reference list	51

JNCC Report 774

1 Introduction

In ecology, to better understand spatial patterns, monitor changes and assess potential impacts, which inform management strategies, quantification of benthic biota is essential (Molloy *et al.* 2013). With recent advances in technology, there has been a rapid expansion of the use of photography to quantify the megabenthos (Durden *et al.* 2016b; Benoist *et al.* 2019a; Simon-Lledo *et al.* 2020), with some survey platforms able to capture thousands of images over a few hours of deployment (Pizarro *et al.* 2013). The use of digital imagery-based techniques to sample benthic habitats poses significant advantages over traditional trawl assessments as it is now evident that trawl assessments underestimate both numerical and biomass density (e.g. 20–200-fold underestimation of biomass density (Benoist *et al.* 2019b) and 20–60-fold underestimation of numerical density (Morris *et al.* 2014)).

Photographic surveys can collect high quality information on benthic communities, including the presence/absence of taxa, direct counts of individuals or colonies, seabed areal cover estimates, and estimates of individual/colony size (Hill & Wilkinson 2004; Dumas et al. 2009; Trygonis & Sini 2012). The use of imagery to sample benthic communities and broad-scale habitat features has significantly increased in recent decades (Vevers 1951; Jaffe et al. 2001; Solan et al. 2003; Benoist et al. 2019a) as it can be deployed more effectively over larger study areas compared to physical sampling. Imagery is a sampling tool with many advantages: it is non-destructive, it may reduce costs compared to other methods, and it may produce more accurate and precise data than alternative options (Morris et al. 2014). As a result of this increase in efficiency, photographic surveys can enable collection of larger volumes of images for more accurate estimations of faunal abundance (Durden et al. 2015). Advancements in digital imagery techniques have also brought about the development of image annotation software (Gomes-Pereira et al. 2016) which allows large quantities of data to be analysed and has been used in greater than 500 publications. Despite the progress that has been made in standardising benthic environmental monitoring at national, regional, and international levels and the increased use of digital imagery, there is still a lack of guidance of the use of quantification methods applied to imagery.

The basis of field ecological studies is an attempt to capture the natural variability in organism abundances at various spatial and temporal scales (Baring *et al.* 2016). Adequate survey design and consideration of data quantification methods are important, as they affect the accuracy of results. (see Durden *et al.* 2016a for more details). The best survey designs are those that feature evenly dispersed sampling effort (images and transects) over environmental gradients in the survey area (Foster *et al.* 2014). Prior to undertaking an image-based survey or monitoring programme there are two key concepts which are important to consider in terms of survey design and subsequent interpretation of survey data, which may be of particular concern for photographic studies: pseudo replication (Hurlbert 1984) and autocorrelation (Legendre 1993) – see Durden *et al.* (2016a) for more details. For most ecological sampling programs, it is widely accepted that an increase in the number of replicate samples usually results in, up to a point, lower standard error and improved sampling precision (Andrew & Mapstone 1987; Bros & Cowell 1987).

Sub-sampling is a useful way to reduce the time required for processing of samples but the associated potential for lower sampling precision must be considered and evaluated explicitly. Several potential pitfalls associated with sampling for organism abundances using different sample sizes need to be considered (Andrew & Mapstone 1987). For example, the potential inability of small sampling units to obtain a reasonable indication of relative abundances at larger scales, and the chance of increased observer fatigue and decreased precision with very large sampling units (Andrew & Mapstone 1987). Both problems can lead to the over-estimation of species with large abundances and under-estimation of rarer ones (Andrew & Mapstone 1987). Many authors highlight the need for appropriate pre-survey

planning and pilot studies; without pre-planned exploration of levels of variability the risk of Type II errors increases (where no effect is detected due to lack of statistical power), leading to false conclusions (Fairweather 1991).

The concept of using digital imagery to generate samples has largely evolved from terrestrial and shallow-water applications, where this approach has been widely used and recommended for rapid ecological assessments (Goldberg & Foster 2002; Preskitt *et al.* 2004). After image collection, the quantification of benthic taxa in large volumes of imagery is most often carried out manually by analysts in a process termed annotation. Even automated systems (i.e. deep learning) must be trained and mediated by human input, potentially involving the manual annotation of thousands of images (Durden *et al.* 2016b). Analysts commonly access and annotate imagery using annotation software (see Gomes-Pereira *et al.* (2016) for examples).

The reliability of the method used to quantify benthic taxa is intrinsically linked to precision (how variable one sample is from the next) and bias (the difference between the expected value of a quantification method and the true value of the parameter being estimated). The design of the survey being undertaken and post-survey decisions for image analysis are important considerations. To be able to quantify variability of biota, several considerations are necessary such as:

- (a) the quantification method employed, and the sampling effort applied to scoring each image,
- (b) at a transect level, both the number of images considered, and the method of selection of such derived images,
- (c) the number of replicate transects in an area, and
- (d) the design and length (i.e. distance) of the transects (Houk & Van Woesik 2006).

The image selection approach (e.g. random vs. systematic sampling) within a transect will also result in a different spread of samples and may affect efficiency, bias, and variance (Perkins *et al.* 2016).

Quantification of taxa from still imagery can be performed using several techniques, each with their own potential benefits and disadvantages. The quantification methodology used for annotation is generally based on the scientific questions asked of the dataset, however various constraints will affect how viable each option might be. For example, the local environment or taxa being counted (e.g. colonial/covering organisms, or solitary individuals). On a densely populated rocky reef, colonial taxa can be annotated by exhaustively drawing around their extents and using software to calculate their seabed cover (cover is a dimensionless measure of local extent), or it may be more efficient to count them using a Frequency of Occurrence grid (number of positive occurrences/maximum possible number of occurrences). Further constraints may arise from image resolution and quality, camera angle (e.g. oblique, or downward facing), which may affect the analyst's ability to resolve taxon identity. Identification of taxa is generally performed by multiple analysts working on a single set of images, so standardisation and agreement in methodology is essential to produce reliable datasets (Durden *et al.* 2016b).

There remains a basic need to understand which methods of quantifying benthic taxa from still imagery are the most efficient in terms of cost (time and funds) and benefit (precision and accuracy) (Drummond & Connell 2005). Consideration of quantification techniques is important as different techniques can provide varying conclusions from the same assemblage structure (Knott *et al.* 2004; Trygonis & Sini 2012). Drummond and Connell (2005) undertook a literature review to compare the costs (time and funds) and benefits (precision and accuracy) of commonly used quantification methods to estimate percentage

cover of sessile marine organisms. Of the papers examined (n = 216; from 25 ecological journals between 1993 and 2001), only 5.5% drew on published methods or prior knowledge to support the selection of quantification method (e.g. visual vs. digital vs. point-intercept), the configuration of point intercepts (random vs. regular) and/or the intensity of sampling (number of point-intercepts). The study concluded that no specific method was used more commonly and that there was a need to understand how various methods compare in their estimation of the sample mean and variance.

Overall, the aim of the present guidance document is to consolidate existing knowledge of quantification method for benthic taxa from still images of still/frame-grab images) as well as to deliver additional perspectives to better advise and support the marine monitoring scientist who wishes to use marine imagery to monitor marine benthic habitats. While some quantification approaches require the use of specific annotations methods (which may not be covered in the document), others could be achieved using a variety of different annotation approaches - a review of different annotation approaches are not covered within this report. Through a critical literature review, an overview of quantification approaches that have been applied to digital imagery were examined to determine the most used approach, their advantages and disadvantages, and their most applicable environment (if stated). Information from a wide range of quantification techniques such as abundance, frequency of occurrence grids, and point count (intercept), from aquatic (predominantly marine) environments, will enable use of this knowledge to inform best practice for marine benthic imagery in the context of monitoring.

2 Gap analysis

2.1 **PRISMA framework**

To meet the overall project aim, a literature review was conducted via a critical review analysis to extract and synthesise relevant information on use of benthic faunal quantification techniques from digital imagery.

The web search engine Google Scholar (GS) was used to conduct the searches, as it is freely accessible and wider reaching than subscription-based or 'paywall' databases such as Web of Science or Scopus. Google Scholar also enables incorporation of wider relevant literature such as reports, guidelines and standards (i.e. non-peer reviewed literature where subscription-based databases may not contain such information; Martín-Martín *et al.* 2021).

2.1.1. Keywords

Several search terms were selected based on focussed relevant key terminology. The final search was carried out using the following terms:

"digital image AND enumerate* AND/OR annotate* AND abundance AND benthic* AND fauna AND marine AND/OR terrestrial* frame AND photo AND/OR still* -litter"* (n = 4000)

Boolean operators were used to incorporate multiple search terms:

A capitalised "AND" combines multiple search terms, "OR" allows for inclusion of alternative terms. The asterisk function "*" attaches to the stem of a word and searches for any word that includes that stem, such as the words 'annotate' or 'annotation.'

A justification statement of "-litter" was used which was required in this literature review to exclude research that focussed on litter studies (n = 1000).

URL:

https://scholar.google.com/scholar?q=digital+image*+AND+enumerate*+AND%2FOR+annot ate*+AND+abundance+AND+benthic*+AND+fauna++AND+marine+AND%2FOR+terrestrial* +frame+AND+photo+AND%2FOR+still*+litter+&hl=en&as sdt=0%2C5&as ylo=2006&as yhi=2009

The literature review conducted was based on the PRISMA framework for reporting of systematic reviews (Page *et al.* 2021). The PRISMA framework allows for transparent reporting of the inclusion (and justification of exclusion) of search literature, based on key search terms. A transparency of decision-making using a triage approach of relevance is provided (See Figure 1). Based on the returned literature from the keyword search, a screening stage enabled decisions for inclusion or exclusion based on non-relevant literature as well as justification statements on levels of relevance (see Table 1). Only literature ranked from scores 2–3 were included within the final review (Objective 1); limited low-ranking literature (score 1) were included as exemplars that provided information on background to the technique(s) employed. Selected texts based on relevant studies that may, or may not, have been identified via the Google Scholar search terms were added to the screening stage (a technique commonly applied in PRISMA-based literature reviews (Page *et al.* 2021).

 Table 1. Qualitative ranking system based on relevance of evidence.

Justification	Score
Highly relevant; contextual and case-study specific with detailed information on statistical approaches and analysis	3
Mid-level relevance: contextual examples/case-study based/enumeration approaches/detailed methodology on deployment and use rather than statistical analysis	2
Low relevance (e.g. background description/workshop discussion-based reporting)	1
Not relevant to faunal quantification techniques for marine imagery	0



Figure 1. PRISMA flow diagram on systematic review on Faunal Enumeration Techniques for Marine Imagery (FETMI). Framework from Page et al. (2021).

A broad range of literature was captured from the PRISMA review, ranging from protocols, review papers (where no methods were undertaken but described and recommended), surveys (e.g. monitoring reports) to experimental peer-reviewed publications (where data were collected). The final literature items (n = 258) selected from the search were reviewed and entered into a proforma (Objective 1) to capture relevant information (e.g. quantification method, any advantages/disadvantages of methods employed, country (of authors' institute), for what data were used, etc). Sources lacked standardised reporting of quantification method(s), with the interchangeable use of synonyms a common trend. To overcome such a limitation, a hierarchical standardised terminology (extracted from the literature) was applied to each of the entries in the proforma (see Figure 2) to allow data to be easily extracted. For those sources which referred to more than one quantification method, a row was entered for each method in the proforma.

Extraction of information from the literature was challenging due to un-standardised, sparse, and incomplete reporting of methods in many instances, especially inconsistent use of terminology. Commonly employed quantification methods were classified according to overarching theme and nested subcategories within the theme (Figure 2) to allow standardisation to produce the gap analysis.

Quantification method Synonyms (from literature) Subheading Abundance Seabed cover Coral cover • Benthic cover • Colony surface area Percentage coral cover • Benthic percentage cover(age) • Percentage cover of organisms • Percent coverage of fauna • Substrate cover • Area cover Surface area • Habitat space for benthic organisms • Count Density • Specimen count • Complete count • Direct count • Species count • Faunal composition • • Individual count Individual colony count • Count • Stationary Point Count (SPC) • Biomass **Biomass density** • Point Count Regular **Coral Point Count** • (Stratified) • Hit Point Method **Coral Point Count** Random • Presence/Absence Presence/Absence (P/A) • Frequency of Occurrence Points • Grids • SACFOR SACFOR •

Table 2. Quantification classification and list of associated terms.

Quantification method classification



Figure 2. Quantification methods classified by key terms (derived from Objective 1 literature) standardised for synonyms: Abundance (covering count, seabed cover, biomass), Point Count, Presence/Absence, Frequency of Occurrence.

3 Quantification techniques

From the literature review, information was extracted for each of the main quantification methods to provide a definition, background description and application. Each of the quantification methods are described below, together with case studies that have employed them. Table 3 summarises the advantages, disadvantages, and considerations (extracted from the literature) for each method to aid ease of comparison between these methods.

3.1 **Presence/Absence**

Presence and absence (P/A) is a common quantification methods used for species distribution models (SDM) and records if a taxon is present in a sample but does not record the relative abundance of the taxa. Presence-only data is often used in 'species' distribution modelling and/ or it is critically important to distinguish between 'true absence' and 'not recorded'. Data can either be recorded as presence only records or include absence data. Absence data can either 'true' or 'inferred' absences records, where true absence are those where a species is explicitly recorded as being absent and inferred (pseudo-absence) being where no record of a species has been recorded. Collected true absence data can be challenging, hence many SDM use pseudo-absences (Wang *et al.* 2023).

The consequence of this quantification approach is that it limits the range of statistical analyses that can be applied to the data, e.g. greatly reducing the power to detect change in a community (Turner *et al.* 2016). This makes it less suitable for monitoring change at a community level, but it may be a critical effective/efficient approach for the presence of an indicator species (Perkins *et al.* 2016). Without the inclusion of proportional representation of taxa in P/A quantification, it is not possible to gauge the relative importance of species, however, the method is rapid, may be subject to relatively minimal errors in the dataset, and is readily comparable between time points and sites (Turner *et al.* 2016).

When considering the choice of a quantification method for change detection, its statistical power is an important consideration. That power is defined as the extent to which a test can correctly detect a real effect when it occurs. Conventionally, 80% power is the minimum to reliably avoid a failure to detect a real difference, with a statistical significance threshold of 5% (Saunders *et al.* 2011). Most presence-absence designs have a low statistical power to detect population declines of less than 20–50%. The low power of presence-absence designs is especially problematic if a small number of sites are surveyed, if encounter rates are low (i.e. if the population is sparse or survey effort is low), if the population is highly variable spatially, or if the population decline is widespread across many sites, rather than concentrated at a subset of sites (Strayer 1999).

Another aspect is P/A quantification is the use of indicator species to monitor change in ecosystems. An indicator species is defined as a species or group of species chosen as an indicator of, or proxy for, an overall ecosystem condition/response (Niemi & McDonald 2004; Van Rein *et al.* 2009) and are used in environmental management as a means of monitoring changes in ecosystems (Gillett *et al.* 2015). When choosing an indicator species, the selection of which species to use may reflect the presence of a conspicuous, easily identifiable, and quantified taxa, while for others it may be of ecological importance, such as key community structuring element (keystone species) (Saunders *et al.* 2011). These indicator or keystone species may be listed as priority or protected species, and the use of dominant space occupying target indicator species can be used to effectively monitor at lower data resolutions (Perkins *et al.* 2016). The use of indicator species (be it a single taxon, or a group of taxa) can reduce the need for specialist taxonomic skills, whilst reducing the overall time required for field sampling (Saunders *et al.* 2011).

Indicator taxa for monitoring are sensitive to environmental change and should meet several further criteria that demonstrate their value as an indicator of broader change, pollution, or other factor(s) of interest. These criteria include a well-known and stable taxonomy, natural history, ease of survey and data handling, broad geographic distribution of higher taxonomic levels, and patterns of biodiversity reflected in other taxa (Pearson 1994).

See case study 01 (page 20)

3.2 SACFOR

Semi-quantitative abundance scales typically contain 5–7 broad categories, allowing for coarse abundances to be recorded both quickly and accurately, but lack the precision of quantitative methods (Hawkins & Jones 1992). Work undertaken by Fischer-Piette (1936), an early pioneer of semi-quantitative scales, used a selection of similar scales to assess the biogeographic range of intertidal organisms, followed by Southward and Crisp (1954) who initially developed a log-based abundance scale, which evolved into the ACFOR scale (Abundant, Common, Frequent, Occasional, Rare) in 1958. Drawing on that specific scale, the UK Marine Nature Conservation Review (Hiscock 1990) subsequently developed the SACFOR (Superabundant, Abundant, Common, Frequent, Occasional, Rare) scale to allow rapid assessment of marine habitats, communities and species around the UK (Strong & Johnson 2020).

Count and cover data are recorded separately, using the same six classes, with cover using the growth form of the species (i.e. 'massive/turf' or 'crust/meadow') and the count scale modified for body shape (less than 1, 1–3, 5–15, greater than 15 cm). The cover classes are separated by a base-2 logarithmic scale, i.e. cover doubles between classes. The counts classes are on a base-10 logarithmic scale, i.e. density changes 10-fold between classes (Strong & Johnson 2020). This logarithmic scale can complicate the detection of subtle changes in species/communities using the SACFOR scale, and thus make it unsuitable for, at least some, monitoring programmes (Eleftheriou & McIntyre 2005).

A clear advantage of the SACFOR scale is that it allows for the rapid assessment of fauna, including skilled *in situ* assessments by divers and coastal observers, and is beneficial for broad comparisons between different sites (Turner *et al.* 2016). It is not suitable for detecting finer scale trends in benthic communities where full assessment of percentage cover and numerical density would be preferential (Turner *et al.* 2016). SACFOR does allow simultaneous assessment of species quantified as either seabed cover or numerical density using a common scale (Noble-James *et al.* 2020; Strong & Johnson, 2020). Data collected using the SACFOR scale can be converted to numerical / rank categories to enable further analyses (Howarth *et al.* 2011) which allows for the analysis of count and cover data with equal weighting, removing the influence of body size and growth form from the final analysis (Strong & Johnson 2020).

A potential observer bias can occur in the assigning of organisms to size categories (e.g. hermit crabs of the genus *Pagurus* may be assigned to the 1–3 or 3–15 cm categories), impacting the resultant SACFOR score. It is recommended that when assigning organisms to size classes, the typical adult maximum size of the species or group is used to improve consistency (Turner *et al.* 2016), this could be achieved by having a standard look-up table to assign size categories to specific species.

See case study 01 (page 20)

3.3 Frequency of Occurrence

Frequency of Occurrence Grids (also known as grid projection, grid cell count, frequency of observation, visual method, visual estimation), are where a sampling unit (quadrat, image) is divided into smaller, equally sized grid cells, and the number of cells assigned to a species is interpreted as a percentage of the total number of cells (Dethier *et al.* 1993; Benedetti-Cecchi *et al.* 1996; Fraschetti *et al.* 2001).



Figure 4. Image illustrating a frequency grid overlain on an image to allow quantification.

Frequency of Occurrence provides a measure of the spread of a taxon in a specified area. This is typically undertaken using a grid of equal cell sizes but is less frequently carried out using points. This means that large taxa present in small numbers will be represented to a greater extent in data collected using frequency or percentage cover estimates than abundance estimates (Beaumont *et al.* 2007). For example, if one large lamellate sponge is present in an image, only one occurrence would be reported using count quantification, but using the Frequency of Occurrence method, twenty squares may be recorded (equalling 20%) for the same sponge.

Frequency counts are more commonly used in terrestrial studies (e.g. Greig-Smith 1964) than marine epifaunal studies. Despite the relative lack of application of the Frequency of Occurrence technique in benthic monitoring studies, this technique offers potential benefits. Firstly, this method of quantifying community structure can be used for colonial and solitary species simultaneously, whereas seabed cover estimations and abundance counts are typically quantified separately (Beaumont *et al.* 2007). Less dominant taxa may be better represented using this method compared to abundance quantification, potentially making any subtle changes to community structure more readily detectable in a long-term benthic study (Van Rein *et al.* 2011a).

The concept of using Frequency of Occurrence grids is often referred to in the literature as the "visual method" or "visual estimation" (e.g. Dethier *et al.* 1993; Fraschetti *et al.* 2001). Dethier *et al.* (1993) examined user subjectivity in detail and concluded that the tendency to overestimate abundance of species with a low percentage of coverage was similar across different observers using visual estimates.

See case study 02 (page 21) and case study 03 (page 22)

3.4 Point Count

Point count, also known by many synonyms (point-intercept, random point count, Coral Point Count) is where percent cover is estimated by recording the taxa under a fixed number of points, or intercepts (e.g. Strong 1966; Kennelly & Underwood 1993). It is a commonly used method for sampling environments *in situ* and from imagery (Drummond & Connell 2005). Coral Point Count with Excel extensions (CPCe) was designed specifically to calculate statistical coral coverage quickly and efficiently over a specified area (Kevin *et al.* 2006) and has been used extensively for shallow-water studies, particularly tropical coral reefs.

The point-count quantification approach originated from terrestrial plant surveys and has been applied to marine benthic surveys in recent years (Perkins *et al.* 2022). For photographic surveys, points are overlain on an image (using projectors in older studies, or more recently using software) and the taxa under each point annotated, with the resultant data used to quantify percent cover (Perkins *et al.* 2022). There are instances where point count is used to record covering organisms only (e.g. shallow-water coral reef species cover) or may be used to record all taxa in the image (both sessile and colina. Points can be placed in a uniform, random, or stratified manner (Foster 1991; Meese & Tomich 1992; Leonard & Clark 1993; Van Rein *et al.* 2011a, b; Trygonis & Sini 2012; Perkins *et al.* 2022). Cover is then used as a surrogate for the numerical or biomass density of target organisms across the survey area (Perkins *et al.* 2022). In applying this method, it is important to consider the number of points used, the relative abundance of the taxa of interest, the spatial arrangement of the points (e.g. random vs. regular), and the extent (size) of the individual organisms/colonies under study (Perkins *et al.* 2022).

The ability of the point-count method to detect individual taxa has been related to data resolution: the greater the number of point-intercepts sampled, the greater the sensitivity, thus the more taxa recorded – but the data-extraction effort also increases with resolution (Dethier *et al.* 1993; Van Rein 2011b). It should be noted that for rarer taxa (especially where strong spatial aggregation is shown), the point count method can lead to significant underestimation of cover (if not completely miss the taxa). Increasing sampling intensity (number of points and/or number of images) will improve the capacity to detect rare and cryptic species (Foster *et al.* 1991; Meese & Tomich, 1992; Dethier *et al.* 1993) but may require a prohibitively high sampling effort to gain sufficient precision in cover estimates to track changes (Dethier *et al.* 1993; Perkins *et al.* 2016). It is possible that, in some cases, this could lead to incorrect conclusions about trends because of high uncertainty around cover estimates.

Several studies have investigated sampling design issues around the point-count approach (e.g. Ryan 2004; Perkins *et al.* 2016; Montilla *et al.* 2020), making recommendations around the level of sampling required, with sample sizes often being prohibitively high when target species are rare or extremely patchy (Dumas *et al.* 2009). Consistent density of points maybe desired and could be achieved either by standardising the size of the image (e.g. Van Rein *et al.* 2011a) or by the density of points by area (e.g. using Coral Point Count (CPCe) overlaid points can be set so that a consistent number of points relative to the area are used (if zoomed in/out) (Thornycroft 2012)).

Another important consideration when applying the point count method is the spatial arrangement of the points, and whether the habitat has heterogeneously distributed taxa. Given that almost all species and biotopes exhibit spatially aggregated taxa, it is very likely that the spatial distribution of organisms will influence the assemblage described by some techniques (i.e. the random grid technique may over- or under-estimate the presence of heterogeneously distributed taxa, particularly when the number of points used is small (Beaumont *et al.* 2007)). Perkins *et al.* (2022) identified that increased sampling was required (both the number of images, and the number of points) with increased aggregation

(clustering) of taxa. It is claimed that randomly distributed points prevent any systematic bias associated with the regular arrangement of organisms (Andrew & Mapstone 1987) while regularly distributed points are claimed to be more representative of spatial variation (Greig-Smith 1983).

In general, but not always (objective specific), greater areal coverage is likely to be more useful than increasing resolution (number of points) within individual images, hence annotating many images over annotating a larger number of points, is generally recommended (Drummond & Connell 2005; Perkins *et al.* 2016).

Given that point count only samples a proportion of a sampling unit, it is likely to be more appropriate for habitats that have dominant space occupiers, such as hard corals in the tropics or kelp in temperate regions, which have high seabed cover (Drummond & Connell 2005; Dumas *et al.* 2009; Trygonis & Sini 2012; Perkins *et al.* 2022). This could also be applied to habitats with high cover taxa in deep-sea environments, such as cold-water coral reefs and dense sponge aggregations. This may be of relevance for those habitats that are listed under existing and 'under development' Essential Ocean Variables (Hard coral cover and composition, seagrass cover and composition, macroalgal canopy cover and composition, and mangrove cover and composition (see GOOS 2021)).

Overall, the point-count method has the advantage of being simple, quick, inexpensive, consistent (Aronson *et al.* 1994; Preskitt *et al.* 2004; Drummond & Connell, 2005; Jokiel *et al.* 2005; Van Rein *et al.* 2011a). Despite the clear advantages, it has poor sensitivity when it comes to detecting small taxa with low abundance and bias towards larger-area cover species (Edmunds & Flynn 2018). Another potential disadvantage of the point-count method is low data density per unit area if an inadequate point density is used (Drummond & Connell 2005) which could lead to an underestimation of species richness relative to the other techniques (Meese & Tomich 1992; Dethier *et al.* 1993; Beaumont *et al.* 2007).

3.4.1. Recommendations to determine sample effort

- 1. Consider the use of point count strategy testing to determine the optimal number and spatial distribution of points note this step is likely to be highly case-sensitive, driven by both the environment and organisms under study and the specific objectives of the study.
- Where biological diversity metrics are to be calculated from the resultant data, consider the use of rarefaction techniques (see, e.g. Gotelli & Chao 2013; Nicholas & Chao 2013) to determine what annotation effort level (number of points × number of images) would be most appropriate to a particular survey/study objective (see case study 04; Van Rein *et al.* 2011b)

While an increase in the number of points assessed per image increases the potential precision, it becomes more time consuming (i.e. costly). Therefore, it is recommended that some time is spent establishing the most appropriate point count strategy (points × images) for any given combination of environment, organisms, and ultimate objective. As noted above, formal assessments of these trade-offs can be made by reference to rarefaction techniques (see case study 04; Van Rein *et al.* 2011b) and via auto-similarity/self-similarity assessments (Schneck & Melo 2010); as employed in photographic assessments by Benoist *et al.* (2019a) and Taormina *et al.* (2020a).

See case study 04 (page 24)

3.5 Abundance

3.5.1 Abundance count

A scale describing the total number of organisms in a sample and expressed as numerical density (as number of individuals per unit area). Annotating for abundance is the most time consuming of the quantification methods but allows for the greatest variety of statistical analyses (Turner *et al.* 2016).

Abundance count is better for capturing small taxa present in large numbers than percent cover estimates. Conversely, large taxa present in small numbers will be represented to a greater extent in data collected using percentage cover or frequency estimates than abundance estimates (Beaumont *et al.* 2007). Perkins *et al.* (2022) showed that numerical density was likely to provide a higher statistical power to detect change over other enumeration methods, such as percent cover and presence/absence, particularly for morphospecies that are erect solitary organisms rather than encrusting.

Studies that employ abundance counts (numerical density) as measures of assemblage structure often exclude colonial organisms, such as hydroids, encrusting bryozoans, and colonial ascidians, from analysis of the data because of the difficulty in quantifying their abundances (Beaumont *et al.* 2007). There are two approaches to overcome this; combining seabed cover and numerical density on to a common scale to allow it to be statistically analysed combined (Stevens & Connolly 2004; Howell *et al.* 2010; Torres-Moye 2012) or using numerical biomass.

It should be noted, that while the ability to combine the numerical density and seabed cover onto a single scale allows statistical analysis of the combined dataset, which for community analysis is beneficial, this method will affect the resolution of data.

3.5.2 Numerical biomass

Biomass is a key ecological variable that informs the fields of conservation, environmental quality assessment, resource management, and the study of the stocks and flows of mass and energy through ecosystems (e.g. Tomlinson et al. 2014). In ecology, numerical biomass has typically been quantified from physical specimens from sledge and trawl nets (Gage & Bette, 2005), but trawling has long been known to provide semi-guantitative sampling of megabenthic biomass (See Durden et al. 2016c) and hence under-represents biomass estimates. Substantially higher standing stocks of deep-sea megabenthos, compared to trawl data, have been revealed from large photographic surveys (Morris et al. 2014; Durden et al. 2015), thus highlighting the advantage of using imagery to improve quantification of biomass (Durden et al. 2016c). There is general agreement of the importance of biomass as key variable (given its central role in assessing stocks and flows of mass and energy through marine ecosystems) in the essential biodiversity variable (EBVs) by global biodiversity observing system (GEO BON) and in the biology and ecosystem essential ocean variables (EOVs) by global ocean observing system (GOOS) and DOOS (Benoist et al. 2019b). Biomass directly, or indirectly feature in several EBVs, and assessment of these EBVs is considered relevant to CBD Aichi Biodiversity Targets (4-12, 14-15) (GEO BON 2011; Pereira et al. 2013).

The use of a taxon-specific length-weight relationship (LWR) approach is commonly employed in both the analyses of photographic surveys (e.g. Durden *et al.* 2015, Case study 06) and of trawl catches (e.g. Robinson *et al.* 2010) but requires adequate prior data for the taxon of interest (Benoist *et al.* 2019b). As LWRs are specific to taxa, data simply do not exist for the vast majority of megafaunal species, and this is especially true for deep-sea taxa. Two limitations of the general application of this approach are the limited baseline data

to draw from, as well as the error that may occur when applying the length-weight relationship due to seasonal variations (Benoist *et al.* 2019b). LWRs are potentially subject to systematic, temporal and spatial variation, and may be highly taxon-specific. Consequently, the use of LWRs out of temporal, spatial, or taxonomic, context may result in substantial systematic error (Benoist *et al.* 2019b).

The LWR method holds the advantage of being both simplistic and its ability to generate biomass estimates for individual specimens, such as are required in the study of individualbased body-size spectra (Edwards *et al.* 2017; Laguionie-Marchais *et al.* 2020) or any research involving the structuring role of body size in ecosystems (e.g. Sewall *et al.* 2013; Lewis *et al.* 2018; Durden *et al.* 2019).

Major works have been undertaken to compile datasets holding LWR data, for example, Wei *et al.* (2010) have provided a highly cited global benthic LWR biomass (from bacteria to megabenthos) database, which has been used as the basis of other major works, e.g. to predict future trends of seafloor biomass in response to climate change (Jones *et al.* 2014). As these biomass data encompass records based on bottom-trawl catches and on photographic surveys, this may potentially introduce mismatches in the spatial scale observed, and in the body sizes and the taxonomic groups assessed (Benoist *et al.* 2019b).

This is particularly problematic for environmental assessments conducted in poorly sampled areas where physical samples of the megafauna are rare, or even absent (e.g. deep-sea mining resource exploitation) (e.g. Gates *et al.* 2017; Durden *et al.* 2018; Stratmann *et al.* 2018), demonstrating a growing need for a more tractable method of taxon-independent biomass estimation (Benoist *et al.* 2019b). To attempt to overcome the disadvantage of the LWR being a taxon-dependent method, and hence of limited use in poorly sampled regions, a taxon-independent method of estimating specimen biovolume, as an estimator of biomass, from photographic observations can be used. The generalised volumetric method does not rely on previously collected measurements but can be obtained by taking two body size measurements from the specimen (image), equivalent cylindrical diameter (*ECD*) and equivalent cylindrical length (*ECL*) (see case study 06 for more details of this method) and biomass can then be calculated from imagery.

3.5.3 Seabed cover

Region-based area or percent coverage estimations, where the absolute or relative cover of a species is ascertained through *in situ* visual estimates or digitised images is a commonly applied method (Garrabou *et al.* 1998, 2002; Meese & Tomich 1992; Pech *et al.* 2004; Teixidó *et al.* 2002; Teixidó *et al.* 2011). Many synonyms are used to describe quantification seabed cover of taxa, such as areal cover, planar area, percent cover, which may be annotated using the same tool (i.e. polygon/freehand tool), but the way the data are expressed can vary (i.e. as numerical density or percentage cover of an image). The most reported measure of cover is percent cover and will be further outlined below.

An estimate of percent cover gives a measure of the area covered by a taxon in a specified sample or image area. Percent cover can be calculated by visual estimation, the overlay of grids, or most commonly by the overlay of points (Perkins *et al.* 2022). Measures of percentage cover, either using some form of random point or visual estimate, are amongst the most frequently used techniques in the determination of epibenthic assemblage structure (e.g. Foster *et al.* 1991; Dethier *et al.* 1993; Beaumont *et al.* 2007). With the development of annotation software (e.g. BIIGLE), polygon tools are becoming more widely used to estimate cover of taxa and can be expressed as either percent cover or numerical density.

Percent cover can act as a partial proxy measure for both numerical abundance and biomass abundance (Chiarucci *et al.* 1999; Parravicini *et al.* 2010) and if all taxa are

quantified using cover, this eliminates the need to combine data from different measurement scales. Large taxa present in small numbers will be represented to a greater extent in data collected using percentage cover or frequency estimates than individual abundance estimates, while small taxa present in large numbers will be represented to a greater extent in abundance counts than in percent cover estimates (Beaumont *et al.* 2007).

Dethier *et al.* (1993) showed visual estimates of percentage cover to be more repeatable and more sensitive than random point estimates (Beaumont *et al.* 2007). In some cases, visual estimation of percentage cover was more accurate than random point quadrat techniques (Dethier *et al.* 1993; Van Rein *et al.* 2011a). Within this report, note that point count and frequency of occurrence quantification methods also provide estimated percent cover.

See case study 05 (page 26)

 Table 3. Tabular summary of quantification methods review.

Name: Count (expressed as density: no. individuals per unit area)

Method: Estimating the abundance count of organisms in an assemblage gives a measure of the number of individuals of a taxon present within a specified area (Beaumont *et al.* 2007).

Advantages: Great likelihood of recording rare taxa. Numerical density is likely to provide higher statistical power to detect change over seabed cover or Presence/Absence approaches, particularly for morphospecies that are erect solitary organisms rather than encrusting (Perkins *et al.* 2022). Allows the greatest range of statistical analyses to be conducted on the resultant data (Turner *et al.* 2016).

Disadvantages: More time consuming. Potential challenge of combining with seabed cover data (i.e. standardisation to a common scale and potential loss of resolution).

Considerations: How abundance count data will be treated post-analysis and combined with seabed cover data when that is necessary. Small taxa present in large numbers will be represented to a greater extent in abundance counts than in percent cover estimates (Beaumont *et al.* 2007).

Name: Numerical biomass (The amount of biomass per unit area product of the living material in an organism)

Method: Estimating the biomass of taxa using body dimensions and/or biovolume.

Advantages: Provide higher biomass estimates than trawl samples (Durden *et al.* 2016c). Allows assessment of stocks and flows of mass and energy through ecosystems (Tomlinson *et al.* 2014). Biomass (directly or indirectly) is considered important for CBD Aichi Biodiversity Targets (GEO BON, 2011; Pereira *et al.* 2013). LWR method is simplistic and can generate biomass for individual specimens (Edwards *et al.* 2017). GVM does not reply on previously collected measurements as is the case with LWR (Benoist *et al.* 2019b). GVM with appropriate training has low inter-analyst error (Durden *et al.* 2016c).

Disadvantages: Time consuming (Benoist *et al.* 2019b). LWR method is lacking for some taxonomic groups/morphoytypes (Benoist *et al.* 2019b). For the LWR method, it requires a huge research effort to compile data for all morphotypes (Benoist *et al.* 2019b). LWRs are potentially subject to systematic, temporal and spatial, variation, and may be highly taxon-specific (Benoist *et al.* 2019b).

Considerations: The presence or absence of large, rare individuals has a very significant impact on the estimation of total biomass density (Sanders 1960).

Name: Seabed (percent) cover (dimensionless relative area measure)

Method: An estimate of seabed area covered by a taxon / taxon (Beaumont et al. 2007).

Advantages: Can be used for colonial and solitary species simultaneously (Beaumont *et al.* 2007), allowing for more statistical tests.

Disadvantages: More time consuming than sub-sampling methods such as point count.

Considerations: May under-represent small taxa (in large numbers) compared to abundance (Beaumont *et al.* 2007). Large taxa present in small numbers will be represented to a greater extent using percent cover than abundance (Beaumont *et al.* 2007).

Name: Frequency of Occurrence (number of positive occurrences / maximum possible number of occurrences)

Method: Frequency counts give a measure of the spread of a taxon in a specified area (Beaumont *et al.* 2007) and can be extrapolated to a measure of seabed cover.

Advantages: Can be used for colonial and solitary species simultaneously (Beaumont *et al.* 2007). Over-expression of less-dominant benthic categories could make any subtle changes to community structure more readily detectable in a long-term benthic study (Van Rein *et al.* 2011a).

Disadvantages: Maybe more time consuming than point count (number of cells vs points dependent) as all cells are recorded for the presence of taxa.

Considerations: Large taxa present in small numbers may be represented to a greater extent using frequency than abundance (Beaumont *et al.* 2007). Size of cell needs to be considered as this will influence data resolution (Moore *et al.* 2019).

Name: Point count: percent cover is estimated using ratio of points recorded for each taxa

Method: Points are superimposed on quadrats in a uniform, random or stratified manner, and the number of points assigned to a species sum up to a percentage of the total number of points (Foster 1991; Meese & Tomich 1992; Leonard & Clark 1993).

Advantages: Fast and easy application (Aronson *et al.* 1994; Preskitt *et al.* 2004; Jokiel *et al.* 2005). Can effectively be used to capture large conspicuous fauna, with a lower sample per unit effort (i.e. number of points, if enough images are analysed (Perkins *et al.* 2016)). Less time consuming than abundance quantification (Turner *et al.* 2016).

Disadvantages: Potential to fail to record rare taxa (Dethier *et al.* 1993). Poor sensitivity in detecting small taxa with low abundance (Beaumont *et al.* 2007). Potential over-representation of larger-area cover species compared to abundance quantification (Edmunds & Flynn 2018). Under-estimation of species richness and lack of individual-related data (Edmunds & Flynn 2018). Low data density per unit area (Drummond & Connell 2005; Van Rein *et al.* 2011a).

Name: Point count: percent cover is estimated using ratio of points recorded for each taxa

Considerations: Number of points and number of images used are important and have important trade-offs. Use Point count strategy testing to determine optimal number and point distribution (Taormina *et al.* 2020a). Rarefaction curves and studies of auto-similarity are useful aids in strategy design (Schneck & Melo 2010; Van Rein *et al.* 2011b). Ensure an adequate number of replicate samples (i.e. images) as it has been noted that can be more important than the number of points per image (Drummond & Connell 2005; Perkins *et al.* 2016).

Name: SACFOR (relative abundance scale)

Method: A standardised semi-quantitative scale of numerical density and seabed cover.

Advantages: SACFOR allows simultaneous assessment of species quantified as either cover or density using the same scale (Noble-James *et al.* 2020; Strong & Johnson 2020). A quick quantification method (Turner *et al.* 2016). Potential reduction of noise in the data caused by field-of-view variance (Noble-James *et al.* 2020). Scale can be used to make useful broad comparisons between different sites (Turner *et al.* 2016). Semi-quantitative scales can be applied to larger areas; they are better able to detect rare species than less extensive methods (Strong & Johnson 2020). Although the broad cover and count classes lack precision, their breadth ensures a high level of accuracy and repeatability between users (Strong & Johnson 2020), leading to its consistent application between users and across a variety of habitats (Strong & Johnson 2020).

Disadvantages: Not suitable for detecting finer scale trends in benthic communities (Turner *et al.* 2016). May be subject to observer bias with allocation of organisms to different size categories (Turner *et al.* 2016). Often applied in a subjective manner leading to intra- and inter-observer variability over space and time, this can be reduced with experience, training and well defined field methods (Strong & Johnson 2020). Does potentially limit the range of statistical tests which can be used (Strong & Johnson 2020).

Considerations: Potentially not suitable for monitoring ecosystem change due to the nature of the logarithmic scale (i.e. substantial change would need to occur to be recognised on the SACFOR scale (Eleftheriou & McIntyre 2005)). To reduce variation in allocating size classes to specific taxa, an agreed (and automated) system will help to reduce observer bias.

Name: Presence/Absence

Method: Only presence or absence of a given taxon is recorded.

Advantages: The quickest method to extract data from imagery (Turner *et al.* 2016). Presence/absence data can easily be compared over years and between sites (Turner *et al.* 2016). Errors in the dataset are also likely to be few when compared to other methods of analysis (Turner *et al.* 2016). Can be used to effectively monitor change using indicator species (Perkins *et al.* 2016). Low resolution method which can be used to monitor effectively for rare taxa (Perkins *et al.* 2016).

Disadvantages: Limits the possibilities for statistical analysis (Turner *et al.* 2016). The statistical power to detect change in community structure is greatly reduced (Turner *et al.* 2016).

4. Case studies

4.1. CS01: SACFOR and P/A

Beaumont, J., Rowden, A. & Clark, M. 2012. Deepwater biodiversity of the Kermadec Islands Coastal Marine Area. Science for conservation 319. New Zealand Department of Conservation (DOC). <u>https://www.doc.govt.nz/globalassets/documents/science-and-technical/sfc319entire.pdf</u>

Two datasets from two cruises were utilised for the report. In 2005, a series of Pisces V submersible and Remote Operated Vehicle (ROV) dives were conducted on seamounts in the study area from the RV Ka'imikai-o-Kanaloa (KOK), New Zealand. The Pisces V was equipped with a stills camera set to automatically take images every 15 seconds, with only one image from each location analysed to avoid repetitive sampling, resulting in 366 images suitable for analysis. The TAN0205 scientific cruise was undertaken on the RV Tangaroa. A total of 300 images were captured from 14 stations on eight seamounts in the study area (in addition to the above-listed seamounts, GI4 and GI9 were visited). A Teledyne Benthos camera system was mounted in a rigid frame and took seafloor photographs when lowered to within 2 metres of the bottom. However, many of these photos were very dark and, because they were mostly in black and white, faunal identification was difficult. As a result, only 115 of these images were suitable for analysis. The combined datasets yielded 482 analysed images.

Still images were analysed for fauna using Image J software. Due to the lack of scaling information, full quantification was not possible, hence the semi-quantitative SACFOR scale was employed. For statistical analysis, data were analysed as both presence/absence and SACFOR. Although coarse groupings were often used for multivariate analysis, many species were identified to the lower taxonomic levels.



Figure 3. Graph showing the taxonomic diversity of fauna observed in the TAN0205 still images from each seamount. Image: Beaumont, *et al.* 2012.

The overall results of the study found little to no significant difference between the seamounts and the authors note that the sampling tools and strategies were not ideal for the purpose of providing a fully comprehensive description of the faunal assemblages in the study area, nor for appreciating the spatial variability in the composition of these

assemblages (including any small-scale differences in composition with changes in water depth). These findings were most likely a consequence of the coarse resolution of taxonomic identification, combined with a low number of usable images within each of the substrate subgroups for the still image datasets, and the quantification method - resulting in low power for the statistical tests. While the use of SACFOR can be a useful approach when data quality/quantity and time constraints do not allow for quantitative, the resolution of data are reduced (even if converted to numbers) and is not suitable for all monitoring, especially if time and image resolution allows for a more detailed quantification method (e.g. point count or abundance).

The study emphasises the importance of taking into consideration the sampling methods and being clear of the purpose of the work and choice of quantification as outline by Durden *et al.* (2016a).

4.2. CS02: Comparison of 4 quantification methods

Trygonis, V. & Sini, M. 2012. photoQuad: A dedicated seabed image processing software, and a comparative error analysis of four photoquadrat methods. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 424–425; 99–108. doi:10.1016/j.jembe.2012.04.018

The photoQuad software integrates a suite of 2D analyses used in marine biology and ecology for the study of sessile communities through photographic sampling. Trygonis and Sini (2012) used simulated data to compare different quantification techniques to quantify three distinct taxa. Data were collected during the summer of 2010, in a study to characterise coralligenous communities in the Aegean Sea (NE Mediterranean), located at an offshore reef off Lesvos Island, Greece (39°19.694' N 26°26.175' E). High resolution (12.1 megapixel) images were taken randomly within coralligenous assemblages at 20–30 m depth, using a PVC quadrat frame, covering an area of 25 × 25 cm.

The three species characteristic of Mediterranean coralligenous communities (Ballesteros 2006) chosen were: a sponge, *Agelas oroides*, a bryozoan, *Schizomavella* sp., and a scleractinian solitary coral, *Leptopsammia pruvoti*. For each of the three species, 30 images were drawn out of the available data pool that featured at least one individual occurrence; density (individuals per quadrat; Dsp) and absolute area (cm²; Asp) were measured using freehand drawn regions, and the respective empirical distributions of density and area per species were obtained. These data were then used to produce simulated data for method testing (see paper for more detail).

The experimental approach taken was designed to assess the accuracy and precision of four different measurement methods, and identify their sensitivity to species size, in their application to the estimation of absolute area and percentage coverage. Although a simplified simulation scenario, real data were used to produce realistic density and area patch values. The simulated datasets were analysed in photoQuad using the freehand tool (FH), Segmentation (SG), Grid cell counts (CL), referred to as Frequency of Occurrence grid within this report, and Stratified random point counts (RP) methods, to investigate and compare their bias in terms of accuracy and precision regarding the estimation of absolute area and percentage coverage. For this report, only FH, CL and RP are of interest as they compare the enumeration methods already discussed.



Figure 5. Composite figure of the PhotoQuad software illustrating the different tools: (a) Species markers (SC), freehand drawn regions (FH) and calibration marks. (b) Image map and region boundaries at intermediate level of segmentation (SG), scale 3 out of 4. (c) Grid cell counts (CL) with unit area equal to 0.5 cm². (d) Stratified random point counts (RP) with selected points assigned to different species. Image: PhotoQuad.

The analysis identified the bias in absolute area and percentage coverage estimates differed among the four measurement methods, and varying sensitivity to species size. The segmentation (SG) method showed the highest accuracy and lowest error variance, and although favourably biased by the current simulation design, highlight its performance in partitioning highly complex benthic images (Figure 5b). The method is robust to individual patch size except for extremely small regions. For overall performance, the Freehand tool (FH) method produced low scaled errors at species level that never exceeded 7.6% and 6.8% in area and coverage respectively. It was, however, less robust to individual size compared to the SG method, a result that agrees with the findings of Bernhardt and Griffing (2001).

Overall, the error analysis at species level indicates that, regarding the available simulated datasets, the segmentation method (SG) is superior, the freehand region (FH) method ranks second as it shows a lower variability across species compared to grid cell counts (CL), and the random point count (RP) method is accurate on large species, but inherently cannot output absolute area, while its scaled mean absolute errors are an order of magnitude greater than all other methods.

4.3. CS03: Comparison of point count and Frequency of occurrence method

Van Rein, H., Schoeman, D., Brown, C., Quinn, R. & Breen, J. 2011a. Development of low-cost image mosaics of hard-bottom sessile communities using SCUBA: comparisons of optical media and of proxy measures of community structure. *Journal* of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom, **92**, 49-62. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0025315411000233

Van Rein *et al.* (2011a) compared visual estimate, point-count and frequency of occurrence grid quantification methods using standardised 25×25 cm photo-quadrats which were then mosaiced together (using 16 images) to provide 1 m² area for subsequent comparison of enumeration methods. Still and video imagery were collected sequentially during the same SCUBA dive from paired sets of 100 × 100 cm sampling quadrat frames, over a continuous two-week period in July 2008. A Nikon digital single-lens reflex (DSLR) camera in an Ikelite underwater housing with purpose-built 25 × 25 cm photo-quadrat frame extending 40 cm outwards from the lens, was used to collect the still image tiles which were then used to construct the photo-mosaics.



Figure 6. Image photo-mosaic using standardised image tiles combined to produce larger sample image for analysis. Image Van Rein 2011.

The visual estimate technique is a well-established method used worldwide, where the observer estimates percentage cover (Dethier *et al.* 1993; Leujak & Ormond 2007). Among the three techniques tested it was considered the most accurate, and therefore, the most reliable in terms of providing the best estimate of true community structure and composition (Dethier *et al.* 1993; Beaumont *et al.* 2007; Leujak & Ormond 2007). Therefore, data from this technique provided a baseline against which the other techniques were compared. In this study, biota within the entire image area were identified and recorded as present or absent to represent the community composition of each sample. Then a visual estimation of the percentage cover of each benthic category was conducted using the observer's judgement, to represent the community structure of each sample.

Two types of data were collected from each image, one to represent the community's morphological composition (community structure hereafter) and the other its unique assemblage. For community structure, species were assigned to broad benthic categories of coarse taxonomic resolution to represent their structural role within the community and recorded as percentage cover of the entire sampling area. These two data types were extracted from each of the still's mosaics, by a single observer, using three different data-extraction techniques in the following order: visual estimation of cover; visual estimation of cover by frequency of occurrence; and point-intercept cover estimation.

Despite the inherent differences in data extraction method, the impressions of community structure determined by the point count and visual estimate techniques were remarkably similar. The point count technique, however, clearly outperformed the others in terms of efficiency: community structure data were consistently extracted in half the time it took for the other techniques. However, the point count technique did have one distinct disadvantage relative to the others: low data density per unit area (Drummond & Connell 2005). As a result, species richness was underestimated relative to the other techniques.

In this study, gross differences in community structure determined by the visual estimate and Frequency of Occurrence count signified that the latter generated the least accurate data of

all techniques under investigation. In addition, these data showed the highest variability of all techniques tested. Therefore, despite having an efficiency, taxonomic benefit, and species richness comparable to that of the visual estimate technique, the authors concluded that the inherent overestimation effect and subsequent variability of cover estimations made by the Frequency of Occurrence technique made it unsuitable for monitoring use on the photomosaics. Data collected using the point count technique proved sensitive enough to detect change in the community with a lower number of replicates.

4.4. CS04: Comparing data density of point count quantification method

Van Rein, H., Schoeman, D., Brown, C., Quinn, R. & Breen, J. 2011b). Development of benthic monitoring methods using photoquadrats and scuba on heterogeneous hard-substrata: a boulder-slope community case study. *Marine and Freshwwater Ecosystems*, **21**, 676–689. DOI: 10.1002/aqc.1224

One of the main aims of this work was to test varying resolution (number of points) of the point-count quantification method. A total of 104 photo quadrats (cropped to a standardised size of 25 x 25 cm) were acquired from a depth of 30 m at the south-west shore of Rathlin Island, Northern Ireland.

Photoquadrats were analysed to record to dataset: community composition and structure were extracted. For this study, community composition was determined by quantification of taxa to the lowest taxonomic resolution possible. Community composition data were intended to accuracy reflect taxonomic composition of sampled areas. Taxa were identified to functional groups (see paper for full details) intended to represent the structural components of the community that serve different ecological functions within the overall community. No motile or rare taxa were recorded during either quantification analysis of the images.

One hundred evenly spaced points were overlaid on images, even spacing chosen over random for ease of using non-automated system and community composition and structure recorded. (Software are now available for automated generation of points, allowing random and non-random point array to be analysed with ease.) To explore the effect that different data resolutions had on the data, 50 and 25 evenly spaced point-intercepts were sub-sampled from the 100-point data to construct two additional data sets: 50-point data (where each point counted for 2% coverage) and 25-point data (4% coverage per point).



Figure 7. Example image illustrating application of 100 regular point data extraction used for study. Standardised image area was achieved by cropping all images to 25 x 25 cm. Image Van Rein *et al.* 2011



Figure 8. Average taxonomic accumulation curves' (random re-orderings of the photo quadrats) for photoquadrat sample images at different data resolution (i.e. number of points) to examine the effect of data resolution on the number of taxa recorded. It is clearly visible that 100 points records the highest number of taxa and reaches the asymptote faster. Image Van Rein *et al.* 2011.

In this study, increases in data resolution, from 25 to 100 points per 25 x 25 cm sample image, tended to increase the number of taxa and the number and distinctiveness of subcommunities identified at the site. Higher data resolutions also showed reduced levels of variability between replicate samples, which increased the relative sensitivity of the data to temporal changes in each sub-community. Overall, those data determined at higher data resolutions (i.e. 100 points) were considered more reliable for monitoring purposes (Andrew & Mapstone 1987). However, with regards to efficiency, it was not surprising that the high-resolution data were extracted with the lowest efficiency of all three data resolutions tested. This trade-off is typically encountered in monitoring method development, where the 'middle-ground' is often selected as a compromise between benefits (accuracy and precision) and costs (time and funds) (Brown *et al.* 2004; Drummond & Connell 2005). Alternatively, the 'middle ground' can be evaluated using more objective assessment measures, like taxonomic benefit, which uses combined benefit and efficiency of survey methods to identify those that record taxa with the least effort per unit area (Van Rein *et al.* 2011b).

There is little consistency among studies regarding the optimum number of points per unit area of optical image (Brown *et al.* 2004; Preskitt *et al.* 2004; Page *et al.* 2006; Dumas *et al.* 2009). The optimum data resolution in this study, 50 points per 25 x 25 cm sample image (1 point every 12.5 cm²) is high relative to that used in other studies: 1 point per 13.2 cm² (Coles and Brown, 2007); 18 cm² (Vroom *et al.* 2005, 2010); 25 cm² (Page *et al.* 2006) 60 cm² (Preskitt *et al.* 2004); 69 cm² (Brown *et al.* 2004; Jokiel *et al.* 2005). It has been suggested that further increases in data resolution would have little additional positive effect but would more likely result in a reduction in data extraction efficiency (Bohnsack 1979; Dethier *et al.* 1993; Drummond & Connell 2005). Indeed, the lack of difference between the A1 and A2 dominant sub-communities determined using 100 and 50 points, respectively, provided further evidence that no additional benefits were gained by increasing the data resolution per sample. Note that these relative assessments are likely to be highly case sensitive (i.e. will depend on environment, fauna, objective).

4.5. CS05: Abundance (count and percent cover) combined datasets

Howell, K.L., Davies, J.S. & Narayanaswamy, B.E. 2010. Identifying deep-sea megafaunal 776 epibenthic assemblages for use in habitat mapping and marine protected area network design. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association* UK, 90(1), 33-68.

Howell *et al.* (2010) undertook community analysis of abundance data from still imagery from the UK deep-sea area (Figure 9) to define biological assemblages (Biotopes) for use in MPA design. In 2006 and 2007, 139 transects were undertaken using the same drop-frame camera system fitted with a video and stills camera (at oblique angles), resulting in 1987 used for analysis. All organisms greater than 1 cm were recorded as abundance counts except for colonial forms that were quantified as percent cover. The study represents what others quantify in terms of count and cover recorded separately, with the need to combine datasets. It should be noted that quantifying all taxa in this way is one of the most time consuming quantification methods (except for biomass).



Figure 9. Areas sampled using a drop-frame camera system in the UK deep-water area in 2005-2007. Image: Howell *et al.* 2010.

To allow combination of the count and percent cover datasets, the variance in their point scale was inspected, with the abundance data having data ranged over a 0–1000 point scale, where percentage cover data ranged over a 0–100 point scale. Standardised abundance data were divided by 10 to bring the two datasets onto the same scale allowing them to be combined into a single dataset. Combined per cent cover and abundance data were analysed using PRIMER v.6 (Clarke & Warwick 2001). While the combination of abundance and cover dataset allows the data to be analysed together, there are disadvantages to be aware of:

- enumerating all taxa (count and percent cover) is time consuming and may not pose any advantage to using another quantification method which uses a single scale (records everything as percent cover), meaning that no transformation of the data are necessary.
- May not be a feasible method (given it is time consuming) for repeat monitoring if resources do not allow for full quantification.

Data were square root transformed and cluster analysis with group averaged linking was performed on Bray Curtis similarity matrix produced, to guide the identification of biological



assemblages at a scale relevant to mapping efforts (10s of m). Twenty-four biotopes were identified from the cluster analysis and full description given (see paper for more details).

Figure 10. Biotopes defined from multivariate analysis of combined still imagery data. Howell *et al.* 2010.

4.6. CS06: Estimation biomass from imagery using a generalised volumetric method (GVM) biovolume method

Benoist, N. M. A., Morris, K, J., Bett, B. J., & Ruhl, H.A. 2019b. A generalised volumetric method to estimate the biomass of photographically surveyed benthic megafauna. *Progress in Oceanography*, **178.** doi.org/10.1016/j.pocean.2019.102188

Benoist *et al.* (2019b) studied methods to quantify megafaunal biomass from photographs to compare the more traditionally used taxon-specific length-weight relationships (LWR), which relies of measurement from specimens to quantify megafaunal biomass against a generalised volumetric method (GVM) biovolume method, as an estimator of biomass.

For the photographic case study, seafloor imagery was acquired from three shelf-sea locations in the Celtic Sea (c. 100 m water depth), northeast Atlantic, using the AUV Autosub3. Images were taken at an altitude of 2.5 m above the seabed (fully field methods and subsequent image processing and assessment described by Morris *et al.* 2014; 2016). All benthic invertebrates were counted and identified to the lowest taxonomic unit. Three body dimensions were recorded per specimen (ECD, ECL, and SL) using the image analysis software Image-Pro Plus as illustrated in Figure 11 to allow calculation of biomass using the LWR and GVM method:

- (i) GVM equivalent cylindrical diameter (*ECD*)
- (ii) GVM equivalent cylindrical length (ECL)
- (iii) LWR standard linear body dimension (SL) as employed by Durden et al. 2016c



Figure 11. Illustrates the use of general body form to estimate volume for use in GVM based on a cylindrical body form. Image: Benoist *et al.* 2019.



Figure 12. Two measurements required for the generalised volumetric method for example benthic megafauna body forms, equivalent cylindrical diameter (*ECD*; solid line) and equivalent cylindrical length (*ECL*; dashed line) shown. (a) Holothuroidea. (b) Polychaeta. (c) Anthozoa. (d) Echinoidea. (e–g) Asteroidea. (h) Ophiuroidea. (i–k) Brachyura. (l) Actinopterygii. Image: Benoist *et al.* 2019.

As noted by the authors, this method is simple for vermiform organisms (shaped like a worm) as is the case in Figures 12a and b, but can be readily translated for a wide range of morphologies. The GVM is readily adapted to various morphologies, including colonial, encrusting, or morphologically plastic forms (see paper for full guidance). Specimen body-size measurements (ECD and ECL) were converted using the GVM approach to estimate biovolume (V_E) and the SL measurement was converted to fresh wet weight biomass (M_E) using the LWR method:

$$M_E = a \times SL^b$$

where M_E is estimated body mass, SL is a defined standard linear body dimension, and a and b are taxon-specific constants obtained by log-log regression of measured body mass on SL, and consequently require adequate prior data for the taxon in question (e.g. Durden *et al.* 2016a).

Biovolume (V_E) and wet weight biomass (M_E) were compared. In total, 2896 specimens from eight phyla and 92 taxa were measured from photographs using both the GVM and LWR approach, for LWR, not all specimens could be compared due to lack of LWR data, hence for the data analysis, V_E and V_E-partial (only those identified that had comparable LWR data) were compared to estimated body mass derived using the LWR method.



Figure 13. Celtic Sea megabenthos standing stock biomass by habitat type and estimation method. The mean value is presented with 95% confidence interval, as estimated using the length-weight-relationship (LWR) approach (*ME*, g m–2) and the generalised volumetric method (mL m–2), excluding (*VE*-partial) and including (*VE*) those taxa for which LWR estimation was not possible. Image: Benoist *et al.* 2019.

No statistically significant differences were detected between *VE-partial* and *ME* estimates for the total surveyed area, or within the individual habitat types encompassed by the survey (Figure 14). Similarly, both methods illustrated the same pattern and detected the same statistically significant differences between habitat types (*VE-partial F3*,267 = 46.69, p < 0.001; *ME F3*,266 = 53.13, p < 0.001). The study concluded that the biovolume GVM method posed advantages over the traditionally used LWR:

- Performance of the GVM is at least equal to the LWR data estimated biovolume (*VE-partial*) was highly consistent with the biomass estimates (*ME*).
- GVM was the able to assess c. 25% of taxa for which no LWR data were available (mainly bryozoans, sponges, and colonial cnidarians).
- A highly useful tool for assessing standing stock in marine regions lacking taxonspecific information (needed for the LWR method).
- In addition, the volumetric approach enables the assessment of those organisms that do not exhibit a distinctive body form or that are rarely sampled as complete entities (e.g. sponges, colonial and encrusting taxa).
- With appropriate training, little Inter-operator variability occurs as evidenced by Figure 14.



Figure 14. Inter-operator variability in the estimation of megabenthos standing stock biomass. Variability, as 95% confidence interval of individual operator mean value, is illustrated as relative difference (%) from the joint mean value (i.e. 100%) of the two operators (O1, O2). (a) Total biovolume estimated by the generalised volumetric method (GVM) for an initial training dataset (*VE-training*). (b) Total survey biomass estimated using the length-weight-relationship (LWR) approach (*ME*). (c–d) Total survey biovolume estimated using the GVM, excluding (c; *VE-partial*) and including (d; *VE*, mL) those taxa for which LWR estimation was not possible. The shaded bands (b–d) represent the variability, as 95% confidence intervals, of the full survey estimates of the corresponding standing stock parameter (i.e. *ME*, *VE-partial*, *VE*). Image: Benoist *et al.* 2019.
4 Limitations and recommendations

A limitation of this report is that it does not include all studies that have been published on the quantification techniques. Similarly, a constraint of this work was the use of very specific keywords to identify literature on quantification approaches of digital (still) imagery. The lack of standardisation and consistency of reporting of data collection/annotation/quantified in the literature meant that some works were not found using the keyword searches. Some of this was overcome by adding citations from within the studies found through the keyword searches. During the first phase of running the keyword searches, it was apparent that there was a disparity in the number of articles reporting the various techniques. Due to the many synonyms found to describe the same technique, the second keyword search may not have found everything.

When reviewing the literature, there was an obvious lack of relevant information in the literature on the application of different quantification approaches in marine imagery, with limited discussion of the advantages and disadvantages and on which approach is best applied. To allow a more robust and standardised approach to imagery annotation, especially for the purpose of monitoring programmes this is essential and should be improved. In many instances the lack of consistent use of terminology and overall lack of detail when reporting of quantification methods, made interpretation of studies during the literature review challenging.

4.1 Considerations, prior to data collection

Prior to the collection of imagery data, several things should be considered to ensure the best quality 'fit for purpose' data are acquired:

- 1. *Purpose of study:* What taxa are being examined (this may determine which quantification approach to utilise). Need to consider community structure (i.e. if there are high proportions of rare species), need to carefully consider the annotation approach taken. For example, the Point count method can miss rare taxa, and would require a large sample effort.
- 2. System settings:
 - Lighting: ensure adequate and even illumination of the scene for greater ability identify taxa
 - Relative angle of camera to scene (may influence annotation method)
 - Low-oblique angle can improve ability to identify taxa (Saunders *et al.* 2011)
 - o High-oblique/vertical downward facing, potentially better image scaling
 - Camera settings
 - Avoid use of autofocus (Saunders et al. 2011).
 - Camera platform speed, guard against motion blur (use flash, use global shutter sensor type)
 - Digital stills will inevitably be better than video frame-grabs due to their higher resolution and improved sharpness due to faster shutter speeds.
 - What seabed resolution of imagery is required (i.e. what taxonomic level/body size level is required)
 - If species identification is the highest priority, ensure good lighting, flash unit, calibration, etc.

- What is the minimum/maximum area needed per image/frame?
- 3. What statistical analyses are required; this will guide the quantification method chosen.
- 4. Power analysis to determine detection of change to a community: Prior to carrying out a statistical power analysis, decisions should be made on the acceptable parameters under which undesirable change will be judged to have occurred, namely the power, significance level, and effect size (Saunders *et al.* 2011). Determine best sampling design (number of replicates and data density per sample) to determine optimal power and minimise both Type I (false positive) and II errors (false negative). By increasing the power of a test, it reduces Type II error risk but can increase the Type I error risk. This can be balanced by good sample design and altering the significance level. If the sample size (i.e. the number of images) is too small, the power is likely to be insufficient, while if the sample size is excessively large, the power will be adequate, but processing time will be increased (sampling effort considerations) (Bros & Cowell 1987).
- 5. Sampling unit: It is important to consider the real extent surveyed and its implication for how well the largest/rarest individuals have been sampled, and how well the benthic body size classes are encountered, which is particularly important when undertaking biomass assessments (Ruhl *et al.* 2023). Consider unit size for sampling, e.g. will images cover a sufficient area to capture the taxa for the purpose of the survey, or is it more relevant to use mosaic of images to gain a greater unit area? (see Benoist *et al.* 2019a for example). Sampling unit could be defined by number of individuals rather than by area (Benoist *et al.* 2019a) using the autosimilarity curve approach (see Schneck & Melo 2010) or the assessment of multivariate dissimilarity-based standard error developed by Anderson and Santana-Garcon (2015).
- 6. Pilot studies: For monitoring programme planning, an important consideration is the effect of size, abundance and patterns of distribution on the precision of quantification of biota; and the use of baseline surveys can be used to establish these key properties to ensure greater potential for collected appropriate data (Perkins *et al.* 2016).

4.2 **Recommendations**

4.2.1 Use of standardised terminology

With the current lack of consistent use and reporting of quantification techniques for annotating marine imagery, using standardised terms are recommended to allow consistent reporting and easy comparison of studies. It is proposed that the terminology used in this report forms the basis for a standardised terminology for quantification methods used in marine imagery.

4.2.2 Validation of methods

Recommendation from this guidance report would be to undertake validation of quantification methodology to determine the best approach for different environments, camera platforms, and objectives. Undertake a series of tests to trial different quantification approaches (including varying data resolution, i.e. number of cells for frequency of occurrence or number of points for point count), to fully understand the impact on various ecological metrics of such variations in method.

4.2.3 Testing site-specific protocols

For monitoring programs, detecting important trends when they occur is critical, and statistical power analysis provides a means of testing the ability of different designs and methodological approaches (Perkins *et al.* 2022). After validation of methods to determine minimum requirements for each of the quantification methods, applying these to different sites/habitats is important. This is particularly true for heterogeneous habitats which may be dominated by very different taxa which may require different quantification approaches to capture the community and ultimately change (Benoist *et al.* 2019a). For mosaic habitats (intermediate habitats), numerical density has been shown to be insensitive to unit size, while species richness and biomass density are linked to sample size (Benoist *et al.* 2019a). Validation of methods in a range of environments is a critically important step that must be conducted prior to initiating monitoring programs (Jokiel & Brown 2000). For example, determine the best approach for hard versus soft substratum habitats.

Testing statistical assumptions and the consequences of applying the different quantification approaches is another important consideration. For full transparency, it is important to identify the statistical limitations of applying the different quantification techniques presented in the report. It is important to fully understand how the quantification method affects the expression of community data, for example, point count quantification is known to underrepresent or even miss rare taxa. And while using abundance count or cover quantification will capture rare taxa, when these data are combined (as described in section 3.6), the standardisation of the two scales can reduce the resolution of data obtained through the more time-consuming enumeration of all taxa. Test the combined use of other indices in addition to species abundance as this may enable measuring change in communities more sensitive - maybe for indicator taxa (Perkins *et al.* 2022).

References

Anderson, M.J. & Santana-Garcon, J. 2015. Measures of precision for dissimilarity-based multivariate analysis of ecological communities. *Ecological Letters*, **18**, 66–73.

Andrew, N.L. & Mapstone, B.D. 1987. Sampling and the description of spatial pattern in marine ecology. *Oceanography Marine Biology Annual Reviews*, **25**, 39-90.

Aronson, R.B., Edmunds, P.J., Precht, W.F., Swanson, D.W. & Levitan, D.R. 1994. Largescale, long-term monitoring of Caribbean coral reefs: simple, quick, inexpensive techniques. *Atoll Research Bulletin* **421**, 1-19.

Beaumont, J.C., Brown, C.J. & Sayer, M.D.J. 2007. Evaluation of techniques used in the assessment of subtidal epibiotic assemblage structure. *Biofouling*, **23**:5, 343 – 356. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/08927010701492219</u>

Beaumont, J., Rowden, A. & Clark, M. 2012. Deepwater biodiversity of the Kermadec Islands Coastal Marine Area. Science for conservation 319. New Zealand Department of Conservation (DOC). <u>https://www.doc.govt.nz/globalassets/documents/science-and-technical/sfc319entire.pdf</u>

Benedetti-Cecchi, L., Airoldi, L., Abbiati, M. & Cinelli, F. 1996. Estimating the abundance of benthic invertebrates: a comparison of procedures and variability between observers. *Marine Ecological Progress Series*, **138**, 93–101.

Benoist, N. M. A., Morris, K. J., Bett, B. J., Durden, J. M., Huvenne, V. A. I., Le Bas, T. P., Wynn, R. B., Ware S. J. & Ruhl, H.A. 2019a. Monitoring mosaic biotopes in a marine conservation zone by autonomous underwater vehicle. *Conservation Biology*, **33**(5), 1174-1186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.13312</u>

Benoist, N. M. A., Morris, K, J., Bett, B. J. & Ruhl, H.A. 2019b. A generalised volumetric method to estimate the biomass of photographically surveyed benthic megafauna. *Progress in Oceanography*, **178**. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pocean.2019.102188</u>

Bernhardt, S.P. & Griffing, L.R. 2001. An evaluation of image analysis at benthic sites based on color segmentation. *Bulletin of Marine Science*, **69**, 639–653.

Bicknell, A.W.J., Godley, B.J., Sheehan, E.V., Stephen C Votier, S.C., Matthew, J. & Witt, M.J. 2005. Quantifying percentage cover of subtidal organisms on rocky coasts: a comparison of the costs and benefits of standard methods. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, **56**(6), 865-876. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/MF04270</u>

Bohnsack, J.L 1979. Photographic quantitative sampling of hard-bottom benthic communities. *Bulletin of Marine Science*. **29**, 242–252.

Bros, W.E. &Cowell, B.C. 1987. A technique for optimizing sample size (replicates). *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, **114**(1), 63-71.

Brown, E., Cox, E., Jokiel, P., Rodgers, K., Smith, W., Tissot, B., Coles, S.L. & Hultquiest, J. 2004. Development of benthic sampling methods for the Coral Reef Assessment and Monitoring Program (CRAMP) in Hawaii. *Pacific Science*. **58**(2), 145-158.

Chiarucci, A., Wilson, J.B., Anderson, B.J. & De Dominicis, V. 1999. Cover versus biomass as an estimate of species abundance: does it make a difference to the conclusions? *Journal of Vegetation Science*, **10**, 35-42.

Clarke, K.R. & Warwick, R.M. 2001. Change in Marine Communities: An Approach to Statistical Analysis and Interpretation. 2nd Edition, PRIMER-E, Ltd., Plymouth Marine Laboratory, Plymouth

Coles, S.L. 1984. Colonization of Hawaiian reef corals on new and denuded substrata in the vicinity of a Hawaiian power station. *Coral Reefs*, **3**, 123–130. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00301956</u>

Coles, S.L. & Brown, E.K. 2007. Twenty-five years of change in coral coverage on a hurricane impacted reef in Hawai'i: the importance of recruitment. *Coral Reefs*, **26**, 705–717.

Dethier, M., Graham, E., Cohen, S. & Tear, L. 1993. Visual versus random-point percent cover estimations: 'objective' is not always better. *Marine Ecological Progress Series*, **96**, 93-100.

Drummond, S. & Connell, S. 2005. Quantifying percentage cover of subtidal organisms on rocky coasts: A comparison of the costs and benefits of standard methods. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, **56**. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/MF04270</u>

Dumas, P., Bertaud, A., Peignon, C., Léopold, M. & Pelletier, D. 2009. A "quick and clean" photographic method for the description of coral reef habitats. J *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, **368**, 161–168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2008.10.002</u>

Durden, J.M., Bett, B.J., Jones, D.O.B., Huvenne, V.A.I., & Ruhl, H.A. 2015. Abyssal hills — hidden source of increased habitat heterogeneity, benthic megafaunal biomass and diversity in the deep sea. *Progress in Oceanography. Part A*, **137**, 209–218.

Durden, J., Schoening, T., Althaus, F., Friedman, A., Garcia, R., Glover, A., Greinert, J., Jcobsen, N., Jones, D., Jordt, A., Kaeli, J., Köser, K., Kuhnz, L., Lindsay, D., Morris, K., Nattkemper, T., Osterloff, J., Ruhl, H., Singh, H., Tran, M. & Bett, B. 2016a. Perspectives in visual imaging for marine biology and ecology: from acquisition to understanding. *Oceanography and Marine Biology - An Annual Review*, **54**, 1-72.

Durden, J., Bett, B., Schoening, T., Morris, K., Nattkemper, T. & Ruhl, H. 2016b. Comparison of image annotation data generated by multiple investigators for benthic ecology. *Marine Ecological Progress Series*, **552**, 61–70. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3354/meps11775</u>

Durden, J.M., Bett, B.J., Horton, T., Serpell-Stevens, A., Morris, K.J., Billett, D.S.M. & Ruhl, H.A. 2016c. Improving the estimation of deep-sea megabenthos biomass: dimension to wet weight conversions for abyssal invertebrates. *Marine Ecological Progress Series*, **552**, 71–79. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3354/meps11769</u>

Durden, J.M., Lallier, L.E., Murphy, K., Jaeckel, A., Gjerde, K. & Jones, D.O.B. 2018. Environmental Impact Assessment process for deep-sea mining in 'the Area'. *Marine Policy*, **87**, 194-202. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2017.10.013</u>

Durden, J.M., Bett, B.J., Huffard, C.L., Ruhl, H.A. & Smith, K. L. 2019. Abyssal deposit-feeding rates consistent with the metabolic theory of ecology. *Ecology*, **100**(1), e02564. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.2564</u>

Edwards, A.M., Robinson, J.P.W., Plank, M.J., Baum, J.K., Blanchard, J.L. & Matthiopoulos, J. 2017. Testing and recommending methods for fitting size spectra to data. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, **8** (1), 57–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210x.12641</u>

Edmunds, M. & Flynn, A. 2018. CBiCS classification of Victorian biotopes. Australian Marine Ecology Report No. 560. In collaboration with Fathom Pacific. Version 1. Report to Dept. of Environment, Land, Water and Planning.

Eleftheriou, A. & McIntyre, A. 2005. Methods for the study of marine benthos: Blackwell Publishing.

Fairweather, P.G. 1991. Statistical power and design requirements for environmental monitoring. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, **42**, 555-567.

Fischer-Piette, J. 1936. Etudes sur la biogeographie intercotidale des deux rives de La Manche, J. Linnean Society (Zoology), XL, 181-272.

Foster, M., Harrold, C. & Hardin, D. 1991. Point vs. photo quadrat estimates of the cover of sessile marine organisms. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, **146**, 193-203.

Fraschetti, S., Bianchi, N., Terlizzi, A., Fanelli, G., Morri, C. & Boero, F. 2001. Spatial variability and human disturbance in shallow subtidal hard substrate assemblages: a regional approach. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, **212**, 1–12.

Gage J.D. & Bett, B.J. 2005. Deep-sea benthic sampling. In: Eleftheriou A, McIntyre A (eds) Methods for the study of marine benthos. Blackwell Science, Oxford, p 273–325.

Garrabou, J., Riera, J. & Zabala, M. 1998. Landscape pattern indices applied to Mediterranean subtidal rocky benthic communities. *Landscape Ecology*, **13**, 225–247.

Garrabou, J., Ballesteros, E. & Zabala, M. 2002. Structure and dynamics of north-western Mediterranean rocky benthic communities along a depth gradient. *Estuarine and Coastal Shelf Science*, **55**, 493–508.

Gates, A.R., Benfield, M.C., Booth, D.J., Fowler, A.M., Skropeta, D. & Jones, D.O.B. 2017. Deep-sea observations at hydrocarbon drilling locations: contributions from the SERPENT Project after 120 field visits. *Deep Sea Research Part II*, **137**, 463–479. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr2.2016.07.011

GEO BON 2011. Adequacy of Biodiversity Observation Systems to support the CBD 2020 Targets. Group of earth observations biodiversity observation network. Network. http://www.earthobservations.org/documents/cop/bi_geobon/2011_cbd_adequacy_report.pd f

Gotelli, N. J. & Chao, A. 2013. Measuring and estimating species richness, species diversity, and biotic similarity from sampling data. Pages 195–211 in S. A. Levin, editor. The encyclopedia of biodiversity. Second Edition, volume 5. Academic Press, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA.

Gillett, D. J., Weisberg S, B., Grayson, T., Hamilton, A., Hansen, V., Leppo, E., *et al.* 2015. Effect of ecological group classification schemes on performance of the AMBI benthic index in US coastal waters. *Ecological Indicators* **50**, 99–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2014.11.005

Goldberg, N.A. & Foster, M.S. (2002). Settlement and post-settlement processes limit the abundance of the geniculate coralline alga Calliarthron on subtidal walls. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, **278**, 31–45.

Gomes-Pereira, J., Auger, V., Beisiegel, K., Benjamin, R., Bergmann, M., Bowden, D., Buhl-Mortensen, P., De Leo, F., Dionisio, G., Durden, J., Edwards, L., Friedman, A., Greinert, J., Jacobsen-Stout, N., Lerner, S., Leslie, M., Natkemper, T., Sameoto, J., Schoening, T., Schouten, R., Seager, J., Singh, H., Soubigou, O., Tojeira, I., Van den Beld, I., Dias, F., Tempera, F. & Santos, R. 2016. Current and future trends in marine image annotation software. *Progress in Oceanography*, **149**, 106-120.

GOOS 2021. Global Ocean Observing System. https://www.goosocean.org/

Greig-Smith, P. 1964. Quantitative Plant Ecology. Second ed. Butterworths, London.

Greig-Smith, P. 1983. Quantitative Plant Ecology, Third ed. University of California Press, Berkeley.

Hawkins, S.J. & Jones, H.D. 1992. Rocky shores. Sea challenger, Vol. 1.

Hill, J. & Wilkinson, C. 2004. Methods for Ecological Monitoring of Coral Reefs. AIMS, Townsville, QLD, p. 123.

Hiscock, K. 1990. Marine Nature Conservation Review: methods. Joint Nature Conservation Committee, Peterborough, Nature Conservancy Council, CSD Report, No. 1072. (Marine Nature Conservation Review Report, No. MNCR/OR/5)

Howarth, L.M., Wood, H.L., Turner, A.P. & Beukers-Stewart, B.D. 2011. Complex habitat boosts scallop recruitment in a fully protected marine reserve. *Marine Biology*, **158**, 1767–1780. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-011-1690-y</u>

Howell, K.L., Davies, J.S. & Narayanaswamy, B.E. 2010. Identifying deep-sea megafaunal 776 epibenthic assemblages for use in habitat mapping and marine protected area network design. 777 *Journal of the Marine Biological Association, UK,* **90**(1), 33-68.

Houk, P. & Van Woesik, R. 2006. Coral Reef Benthic Video Surveys Facilitate Long-Term Monitoring in the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands: Toward an Optimal Sampling Strategy. *Pacific Science*, **60**(2), 177-189.

Houk, P., Benavente, D. & Johnson, S. 2012. Watershed-based coral reef monitoring across Tutuila, American Samoa: Summary of decadal trends and 2013 assessment. University of Guam Marine Laboratory Technical Report 169.

Jaffe, J.S., Moore, K.D., McLean, J. & Strand, M.P. 2001. Underwater optical imaging: status and prospects. *Oceanography* **14**, 66–76.

Jokiel, P.L. & Brown, E.K. 2000. Hawaii Coral Reef Initiative Coral Reef Assessment and Monitoring Program (CRAMP) Final Report 1998-99. National Ocean Service. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration.

Jokiel, P.L., Rodgers, K.S., Brown, E.K., Kenyon, J.C., Aeby, G., Smith, W.R. & Farell, F. 2005. Comparison of Methods Used to Estimate Coral Cover in the Hawaiian Islands. NOAA/NOS NWHI Coral Reef Ecosystem Reserve Report, Hawai'i.

Kennelly, S.J. & Underwood, A.J. 1993. Geographic consistencies of effects of experimental physical disturbance on understorey species in sublittoral kelp forests in central New-South-Wales. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, **168**, 35–58.

Knott, N.A., Underwood, A.J., Chapman, M.G. & Glasby, T.M. 2004. Epibiota on vertical and horizontal surfaces on natural reefs and on artificial structures. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, **84**, 1117 – 1130.

Kohler, K.E. & Gill, S.M. 2006. Coral Point Count with Excel extensions (CPCe): A Visual Basic program for the determination of coral and substrate coverage using random point count methodology. *Computers & Geosciences*, **32** (9), 1259-1269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cageo.2005.11.009</u>

Kortsch, S. 2010. Long-term patterns (1980-2008) in the structure of a rocky-bottom macrobenthic community in Smeerenburgfjord, northwest Svalbard: assessment of density and cover using image analysis. Master Thesis. University of Tromsø. Norway.

Laguionie-Marchais, C., Bett, B.J., Paterson, G.L.J., Smith Jr, K.L. & Ruhl, H. 2020. Using metabolic theory to assess structure and function in the deep-sea benthos, including microbial and metazoan dominance. *Deep-Sea Research II*, **173**, 104762. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr2.2020.104762</u>

Leonard, G.H. & Clark, R.P. 1993. Point quadrat versus video transect estimates of the cover of benthic red algae. *Marine Ecological Progress Series*, **101**, 203–208.

Leujak, W. & Ormond, R.F.G. 2007. Comparative accuracy and efficiency of six coral community survey methods. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, **351**, 168–187.

Lewis, L.S., Smith, J.E. & Eynaud, Y. 2018. Comparative metabolic ecology of tropical herbivorous echinoids on a coral reef. *PLoS ONE*, **13**(1), e0190470. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0190470</u>.

Marchais, C.L., Bett, B.J., Paterson, G.L., Smith Jr, K.L. & Ruhl, H.A. 2020. Using metabolic theory to assess structure and function in the deep-sea benthos, including microbial and metazoan dominance. *Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography*, **173**, 104762.

Martín-Martín, A., Thelwall, M. & Orduna-Malea, E. 2021. Google Scholar, Microsoft Academic, Scopus, Dimensions, Web of Science, and OpenCitations' COCI: a multidisciplinary comparison of coverage via citations. *Scientometrics*, **126**, 871–906. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11192-020-03690-4</u>

Meese, R.J. & Tomich, P.A. 1992. Dots on the rocks – a comparison of percent cover estimation methods. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, **165**, 59 – 73.

Molloy, P.P., Evanson, M., Nellas, A.C., Rist, J.L., Marcus, J.E., Koldewey, H.J. & Vincent, A.C.J. 2013. How much sampling does it take to detect trends in coral-reef habitat using photoquadrat surveys? *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, **23**, 820-837.

Moore, J., Van Rein, H., Benson, A., Sotheran, I., Mercer, T. & Ferguson, M. 2019. Optimisation of Benthic Image Analysis Approaches, *JNCC Report 641*, JNCC, Peterborough, ISSN 0963-8091 <u>https://hub.jncc.gov.uk/assets/3dbf346b-685c-4db1-90a1b205af482146</u> Montilla, L.M., Miyazawa, E., Ascanio, A., Lopez-Hernandez, M., Marino-Briceno, G., Rebolledo-Sanchez, Z., Rivera, A., Mancilla, D.S., Verde, A. & Croquer, A. 2020. The use of pseudo-multivariate standard error to improve the sampling design of coral monitoring programs. *PeerJ*, **8**, e8429.

Morris, K., Bett, B., Durden, J., Huvenne, V., Miligan, R., Jones, D., McPhail, S., Robert, K., Bailey, D. & Ruhl, H. 2014. A new method for ecological surveying of the abyss using autonomous underwater vehicle photography. *Limnology &. Oceanography: Methods*, **12**, 2014, 795–809. <u>https://doi.org/10.4319/lom.2014.12.795</u>

Nicholas J.G. & Chao, A. 2013. Measuring and Estimating Species Richness, Species Diversity, and Biotic Similarity from Sampling Data. In: Editor(s): Simon A Levin, Encyclopedia of Biodiversity (Second Edition), Academic Press, Pages 195-211. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-384719-5.00424-X

Niem, G.J. & McDonald, M.E. 2004. Application of ecological indicators. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, **35**, 89–111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.35.112202.130132</u>

Noble-James, T., Judd, A., Diesing, M., Clare, D., Eggett, A., Silburn, B. & Duncan, G. 2020. Monitoring shallow methane-derived authigenic carbonate: Insights from a UK Marine Protected Area. *Aquatic Conservation Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, **30(**5). <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.3296</u>

Page, H.M., Dugan, J.E., Culver, C.S. & Hoesterey, J.C. 2006. Exotic invertebrate species on offshore oil platforms. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, **325**: 101–107.

Page, M.J., McKenzie, J.E., Bossuyt, P.M., Boutron, I., Hoffmann, T.C. & Mulrow, C.D. 2021. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *British Medical Journal*, **372.** <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n71</u>

Parravicini, V., Micheli, F., Montefalcone, M., Villa, E., Morri, C. & Bianchi, C.N. 2010. Rapid assessment of epibenthic communities: A comparison between two visual sampling techniques. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, **395**, (1-2), 21–29.

Pearson, D.L. 1994. Selecting indicator taxa for the quantitative assessment of biodiversity. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B.* **345**, 75–79. <u>http://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.1994.0088</u>

Pech, D., Condal, A.R., Bourget, E. & Ardisson, P.L. 2004. Abundance estimation of rockyshore invertebrates at small spatial scale by high-resolution digital photography and digital image analysis. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, **299**, 185–199.

Pereira, H.M., Ferrier, S., Walters, M., Geller, G.N., Jongman, R.H., Scholes, R.J., Bruford, M.W., Brummitt, N., Butchart, S.H., Cardoso, A.C., Coops, N.C., Dulloo, E., Faith, D.P., Freyhof, J., Gregory, R.D., Heip, C., Hoft, R., Hurtt, G., Jetz, W., Karp, D.S., McGeoch, M.A., Obura, D., Onoda, Y., Pettorelli, N., Reyers, B., Sayre, R., Scharlemann, J.P., Stuart, S.N., Turak, E., Walpole, M. & Wegmann, M. 2013. Ecology. Essential biodiversity variables. *Science*, **339** (6117), 277–278. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1229931</u>

Perkins, N., Foster, S., Hill, N. & Barret, N. 2016. Image subsampling and point scoring approaches for large-scale marine benthic monitoring programs. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, **176**, 36-46. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2016.04.005</u>

Perkins, N., Zhang, Z., Monk, J. & Barret, N. 2022. The annotation approach used for marine imagery impacts the detection of temporal trends in seafloor biota. *Ecological Indicators*, **140**, 109029.

Preskitt, L.B., Vroom, P.S. & Smith, C.M. 2004. A rapid ecological assessment (REA) quantitative survey method for benthic algae using photoquadrats with SCUBA. *Pacific Science*, **58**, 201–209.

Pizarro, O., Williams, S.B., Jakuba, M.V., Johnson-Roberson, M., Mahon, I., Bryson, M., Steinberg, D., Friedman, A., Dansereau, D., Nourani-Vatani, N., Bongiorno, D., Bewley, M., Bender, A., Ashan, N. & Douillard, B. 2013. Benthic Monitoring with Robotic Platforms-The Experience of Australia (Tokyo).

Robinson, L.A., Greenstreet, S.P.R., Reiss, H., Callaway, R., Craeymeersch, J., de Boois, I., Degraer, S., Ehrich, S., Fraser, H.M., Goffin, A., Kröncke, I., Jorgenson, L.L., Robertson, M.R. & Lancaster, J. 2010. Length–weight relationships of 216 North Sea benthic invertebrates and fish. *Journal of Marine Biological Association of United Kingdom*, **90** (1), 95–104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0025315409991408</u>

Ruhl, H.A., Bett, B.J., Ingels, J., Martin, A., Gates, A.R., Yool, A., Benoist, N.M.A., Appeltans, W., Howell, K L. & Danovaro, R. 2013. Integrating ocean observations across body-size classes to deliver benthic invertebrate abundance and distribution information. *Limnology and Oceanography Letters*, **8**, 692–706. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/lol2.10332</u>

Ryan, D.A.J. 2004. Point Sampling Strategies for Estimating Coverage from Benthic Video Transects. *Environmetrics*, **15**, (3) 193–207.

Sanders, L. 1960. Benthic studies in Buzzards Bay III. The structure of the soft-bottom community. *Limnology and. Oceanography*, **5**, 138–153. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.1960.5.2.0138

Saunders, G., Bedford, G.S., Trendall, J.R. & Sotheran, I. 2011. Guidance on survey and monitoring in relation to marine renewables deployments in Scotland. Volume 5. Benthic Habitats. Unpublished draft report to Scottish Natural Heritage and Marine Scotland.

Schneck, F. & Melo, A.S. 2010. Reliable sample sizes for estimating similarity among macroinvertebrate assemblages in tropical streams. *Annales de Limnologie International Journal of Limnology*, **46**, 93–100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1051/limn/2010013</u>

Sewall, B.J., Freestone, A.L., Hawes, J.E. & Andriamanarina, E. 2013. Size-energy relationships in ecological communities. *PLoS ONE*, **8** (8), e68657. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0068657</u>

Simon-Lledo, E., Pomee, C., Ahokava, A., Drazen, J.C., Leitner, A.B., Flynn, A., Parianos, J. & Jones, D.O.B 2020. Multi-scale variations in invertebrate and fish megafauna in the mideastern clarion Clipperton zone. *Progress in Oceanography*, **187**, 102405. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pocean.2020.102405</u>

Solan, M., Germano, J.D., Rhoads, D.C., Smith, C., Michaud, E., Parry, D., Wenzhöfer, F., Kennedy, B., Henriques, C. & Battle, E. 2003. Towards a greater understanding of pattern, scale and process in marine benthic systems: a picture is worth a thousand worms. *Journal of Experimental Marin Biology and Ecology*, **285**, 313–338.

Southward, A.J. & Crisp, D.J. 1954. The distribution of certain intertidal animals around the Irish coast. In: *In Proceedings of the Royal Irish Academy. Section B: Biological, Geological, and Chemical Science*, vol. 57: Royal Irish Academy; 1954. p. 1–29.

Stratmann, T., Lins, L., Purser, A., Marcon, Y., Rodrigues, C.F., Ravara, A., Cunha, M.R., Simon-Lledó, E., Jones, D.O.B., Sweetman, A.K., Köser, K. & van Oevelen, D. 2018. Abyssal plain faunal carbon flows remain depressed 26 years after a simulated deepsea mining disturbance. *Biogeosciences*, **15** (13), 4131–4145. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-15-4131-2018</u>

Strayer, D.L. 1999. Statistical Power of Presence-Absence Data to Detect Population Declines. *Conservation Biology*, 13 (5), 1034-1038. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/2641736</u>

Stevens, T. & Connolly, R.M. 2004. Testing the utility of abiotic surrogates for marine habitat 924 mapping at scales relevant to management. *Biological Conservation*, **119**, 351-362.

Strong, C.W. 1966. An improved method for obtaining density from line-transect data. *Ecology*, **47**, 311–313.

Strong, J.A. & Johnson, M. (2020). Converting SACFOR data for statistical analysis: validation, demonstration and further possibilities. *Marine Biodiversity Records*, **13(**2). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s41200-020-0184-3</u>

Taormina, B., Marzloff, M., Desroy, N., Caisey, X., Dugornay, O., Thiesse, E., Tancray, A. & Carlier, A. 2020a. Optimizing image-based protocol to monitor macroepibenthic communities colonizing artificial structures. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, **77**(2), 835–845. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/icesims/fsz249</u>

Teixidó, N., Garrabou, J. & Arntz, W.E. 2002. Spatial pattern quantification of Antarctic benthic communities using landscape indices. *Marine Ecological Progress Series*, **242**, 1–14.

Teixidó, N., Albajes-Eizagirre, A., Bolbo, D., Le Hir, E., Demestre, M., Garrabou, J., Guigues, L., Gili, J.M., Piera, J., Prelot, T. & Soria-Frisch, A. 2011. Hierarchical segmentation-based software for cover classification analyses of seabed images (Seascape). *Marine Ecological Progress Series*, **431**, 45–53.

Thornycroft, R. 2012. Videographic analysis of the coelacanth, Latimeria Chalumnae, and associated habitats in the Isimangaliso wetlands park, Kwazula-Natal, South Africa (Masters Thesis). Rhodes University.

Tomlinson, S., Arnall, S.G., Munn, A., Bradshaw, S.D., Maloney, S.K., Dixon, K.W. & Didham, R.K. 2014. Applications and implications of ecological energetics. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, **29** (5), 280-290. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2014.03.003

Torres-Moye, G. 2012. Mainland and Island Kelp Forests in Northern Baja California, Mexico: Subtidal Community Structure, Dynamics, and Connectivity for the Design of Marine Protected Areas. (PhD Thesis). University of California, USA.

Trygonis, V. & Sini, M. 2012. photoQuad: A dedicated seabed image processing software, and a comparative error analysis of four photoquadrat methods. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, **424–425**, 99–108. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2012.04.018</u>

Turner, J.A., Hitchin, R., Verling, E. & Van Rein, H. 2016. Epibiota remote monitoring from digital imagery: Interpretation guidelines. JNCC. NMBAQC.

Van Rein, H., Brown, C., Quinn, R. & Breen, J. 2009. A review of sublittoral monitoring methods in temperate waters: a focus on scale. *Underwater Technology*, **28**, 99–113. <u>https://doi.org/10.3723/ut.28.099</u>

Van Rein, H., Schoeman, D., Brown, C., Quinn, R., & Breen, J. 2011a. Development of lowcost image mosaics of hard-bottom sessile communities using SCUBA: comparisons of optical media and of proxy measures of community structure. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, **92**, 49-62. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0025315411000233

Van Rein, H., Schoeman, D.S., Brown, C.J., Quinn, R. & Breen, J. 2011b. Development of benthic monitoring methods using photoquadrats and scuba on heterogeneous hard-substrate: a boulder-slope community study. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, **21**, 676-689.

Vevers, H.G. 1951. Photography of the sea floor. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, **30**,101-111.

Vroom, P.S., Page, K.N., Peyton, K.A. & Kukea-Shultz, J.K. 2005. Spatial heterogeneity of benthic community assemblages with an emphasis on reef algae at French Frigate Shoals, northwestern Hawaiian Islands. *Coral Reefs*, **24**, 574–581.

Vroom, P.S., Musburger, C.A., Cooper, S.W., Maragos, J.E., Page-Albins, N. & Timmers MAV. 2010. Marine biological community baselines in unimpacted tropical ecosystems: spatial and temporal analysis of reefs at Howland and Baker Islands. Biodiversity and Conservation, **19**, 797–812.

Wang, X., Xu, Q. & Lui, J. 2023. Determining representative pseudo-absences for invasive plant distribution modeling based on geographic similarity. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, **11**. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2023.1193602</u>

Wei, C.L., Rowe, G.T., Escobar-Briones, E., Boetius, A., Soltwedel, T., Caley, M.J., Soliman, Y., Huettmann, F., Qu, F., Yu, Z., Pitcher, C.R., Haedrich, R.L., Wicksten, M.K., Rex, M.A., Baguley, J.G., Sharma, J., Danovaro, R., MacDonald, I.R., Nunnally, C.C., Deming, J.W., Montagna, P., Levesque, M., Weslawski, J.M., Wlodarska- Kowalczuk, M., Ingole, B.S., Bett, B.J., Billett, D.S., Yool, A., Bluhm, B.A., Iken, K. & Narayanaswamy, B.E. 2010. Global patterns and predictions of seafloor biomass using random forests. *PLoS ONE*, **5** (12), e15323. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0015323</u>

Whomersley, P., Murray, J.M., McIlwaine, P., Stephens, D. & Stebbing, P.D. 2015. More bang for your monitoring bucks: Detection and reporting of non-indigenous species. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, **94**: 14-18.

Appendix

PRISMA Framework

From this literature review, it was clear that there has been considerable growth in the use of digital imagery in marine science, not least in benthic studies (Appendix Figure A1). During the late 20th Century, these studies were exploratory and adopted the use of camera technology, with the evidence mostly consisting of PhD theses. Since the advent of technological advances such as compact digital cameras with underwater housing (e.g. GoPro in 2004), studies more than tripled in output with many studies dating from 2007 onwards and *ca*. greater than 20 per year (cross-reference Bicknell *et al.* 2016). It is apparent that annotation approaches and quantification methods were used in 2010 onwards; with manual counts employing Adobe/Excel (e.g. Coral Point Count) then digitally using software (e.g. BIIGLE 2009, Squidle+ 2015 – see Gomes-Pereira *et al.* 2016 and references therein). In terms of sampling the water column and quantification approaches, benthic approaches were observed in 2011–2014 with pelagic sampling growing in popularity as from 2019 onwards.



Figure A1. Relevant evidence of quantification techniques over time, highlighting the relative lack of publications reporting quantification method from imagery prior to 2007.

Within this literature review relevant contributing studies were observed from over 32 countries/overarching programmes (e.g. UNESCO/IUCN). The heat map of countries demonstrates the quantity of digital imagery research (relevant to this review) with the apparent world leaders, USA (n = 69), UK (n = 48), Australia (n = 43) Canada (n = 17) and New Zealand (n = 11) (Figures A2 & A3).

Table A1 displays the range of sampling platforms in use by various countries for digital imagery. Remote Operated Vehicles (ROVs) were the most utilised (n = 84), constituting *ca*. 24 % of all reported studies. The most reported sampling platforms after ROVs were SCUBA/Diver operated imagery (n = 67) and towed cameras (n = 40).

Table A2 shows the range of quantification methods by countries through use of digital imagery. Through this literature review, Abundance was the most employed method (n = 184), with more than double the amount of evidence compared to that of Point Count (n = 77) and SACFOR being the least employed (n = 7). The top ten countries employing such techniques account for 85% of all reported studies within this literature review, with USA, Australia and UK contributing over 60% to the evidence base (see Figure A3).



Figure A2. World heat map of 33 countries with relevant digital imagery studies employing quantification approaches (n = 258).

JNCC Report 774



Figure A3. Relevant digital imagery studies employing quantification approaches (n = 258) by country.

Table A1. Use of Sampling platforms reported in literature listed by countries, in some instances more than one sampling platforms has been used per piece of literature. AUV - Autonomous Underwater Vehicle, BRUV - Baited Remote Underwater Video, MUV (HOV) - Manned Underwater Vehicle/Human Operated Vehicle, ROV - Remote Operated Vehicle, RUV - Remote Underwater Vehicle, UAV - Unmanned Aerial Vehicle.

Sampling platform	Category tot. all
	countries
ROV	84
SCUBA/Diver	67
Towed Camera	40
Video	36
AUV	23
BRUV	21
Photoquadrat/quadrat	18
Sled/	13
Drop Camera	9
Lander	9
Submersible	8
MUV (HOV)	6
Camera trap	5
Drop Frame	5
Observatory	4
Snorkelling	2
RUV	1
UAV	1
Tot. Platforms used	352
for research	552

Table A2. Quantification method studies employed with digital imagery (n = 258 studies; with 342 reported uses of the various quantification methods) highlighting abundance being the most reported method and SACFOR being the least. Some studies (i.e. comparative) reported more than one quantification method.

Quantification Method	Subtotal
Abundance	208
Point Count	76
P/A - Presence/Absence	39
Frequency of Occurrence	12
SACFOR	7
Tot. quantification methods recorded	342

Reference list

Abdo, D., Burgess, S., Coleman, G., Osborne, K. (2004). Surveys of benthic reef communities using underwater video. Long-term monitoring of the Great Barrier Reef. Standard operational procedure 2, 3rd Revised Edition.

Abril, C. (2021). Preliminary Assessment of Elasmobranch Occurrence, and Mapping of Potential Overlap with Human Activities, Using Noninvasive Methods: The Case Study of the Berlengas Natural Reserve. (Master Thesis). ISPA– Instituto Universitário.

Alhababy, A.M.Y. (2006). An Assessment of Grounding, Anchoring and Fishing Methods on Coral Reef Structures and Reed Fish near Kamaran and Uqban Seghir Islands, West Coast of Yemen, Red Sea. (PhD Thesis). Christian-Albrechts-Universität zu Kiel.

Alves, C., Valdivia, A., Aronson, R.B., Bood, N., Castillo, K.D., Cox, C., Fieseler, C., Locklear, Z., McField, M., Mudge, L., Umbanhowar, J. & Bruno, J. (2022). Twenty years of change in benthic communities across the Belizean Barrier Reef. *PLoS ONE* 17(1): e0249155. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0249155</u>

Appah, J.K.M., Lim, A., Harris, K., O'Riordan, R., O'Reilly, L. & Wheeler, A.J. (2020). Are Non-reef Habitats as Important to Benthic Diversity and Composition as Coral Reef and Rubble Habitats in Submarine Canyons? Analysis of Controls on Benthic Megafauna Distribution in the Porcupine Bank Canyon, NE Atlantic. *Front. Mar. Sci.* 7:571820. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2020.571820</u>

Assis, J., Goncalves, J., Veiga, P. & Pita, C. (2018). Spearfishing in Portugal: A baseline study on spearfishers' profiles, habits and perceptions towards management measures. *Fish Manag Ecol.*;1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/fme.12313</u>

Baring, R.J., Lester, R.E. & Fairweather, P.G. (2016). Establishing precise estimates of abundance in patchy habitats of the marine nearshore. *Mar Env Res.* Volume 120, pp68-77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2016.07.003

Barrett, N. & Monk, J. (2021). Progress towards a nationally integrated benthic biodiversity monitoring program for the Australia's marine realm. Report to the National Environmental Science Programme, Marine Biodiversity Hub. Institute for Marine and Antarctic Studies, University of Tasmania.

Beaumont, J.C., Brown, C.J. & Sayer, M.D.J. (2007). Evaluation of techniques used in the assessment of subtidal epibiotic assemblage structure. Biofouling, 23:5, 343 - 356 To link to this article: URL: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/08927010701492219</u>

Beaumont, J., Rowden, A. & Clark, M. (2012). Deepwater biodiversity of the Kermadec Islands Coastal Marine Area. Science for conservation 319. New Zealand Department of Conservation (DOC).

Beazly, L., Kenchington, E., Yashayaev, I. & Murillo, F. (2015). Drivers of epibenthic megafaunal composition in the sponge grounds of the Sackville Spur, northwest Atlantic. *Deep-Sea Research I* 98; 102–114. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr.2014.11.016</u>

Beijbom, O., Edmunds, P.J., Roelfsema, C., Smith, J., Kline, D.I., Neal, B.P., Dunlap, M.J., Moriarty, V., Fan, T.-Y., Tan, C.-J., Chan, S., Treibitz, T., Gamst, A., Greg Mitchell, B. & Kriegman, D. (2015) Towards Automated Annotation of Benthic Survey Images: Variability of Human Experts and Operational Modes of Automation. *PLoS ONE* 10(7): e0130312 Benedetti-Cecchi, L., Arioldi, L., Abbiati, M. & Cinelli, F. (1996). Estimating the abundance of benthic invertebrates: a comparison of procedures and variability between observers. *Marine Ecology Progress*. 138: 93-101

Bewley, M., Friedman, A., Ferrari, R., Hill, N., Hovey, R., Barrett, N., Pizarro, O., Figueira, W., Meyer, L., Babcock, R., Bellchambers, L., Byrne, M. & Williams, S. (2015). Australian sea-floor survey data, with images and expert annotations. *SCIENTIFIC DATA* | 2:150057 | https://doi.org/10.1038/sdata.2015.57

Bicknell, A., Godley, B., Sheehan, E., Votier, S. & Wirr, M. (2016). Camera technology for monitoring marine biodiversity and human impact. *Front Ecol Environ*; 14(8): 424–432. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/fee.1322</u>

Bluhm, B.A., MacDonald, I.R., Debenham, C. & Iken, K. (2005). Macro-and megabenthic communities in the high Arctic Canada Basin: initial findings. *Polar Biology*, 28(3): 218-231. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00300-004-0675-4</u>

Bonaldo, R.M. & Bellwood, D.M. (2011). Parrotfish predation on massive Porites on the Great Barrier Reef. *Coral Reefs* (2011) 30:259–269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00338-010-0669-3</u>

Bouchet, P., Meeuwig, J., Huveneers, C., Langlois, T., Letessier, T., Lowry, M., Rees, M., Santana-Garcon, J., Scott, M., Taylor, M., Thompson, C., Vigliola, L. & Whitmarsh, S. (2018). Marine sampling field manual for pelagic BRUVS (Baited Remote Underwater Videos). In Field Manuals for Marine Sampling to Monitor Australian Waters, Przeslawski, R. & Foster, S. (Eds). National Environmental Science Programme (NESP). pp. 105-132.

Bouchet, P. & Meeuwig, J. (2015). Drifting baited stereo-videography: a novel sampling tool for surveying pelagic wildlife in offshore marine reserves. *Ecosphere*; 6(8). Article 137

Bowden, D.A., Anderson, O.F., Rowden, A.A., Stephenson, F. & Clark, M.R. (2021) Assessing Habitat Suitability Models for the Deep Sea: Is Our Ability to Predict the Distributions of Seafloor Fauna Improving? *Front. Mar. Sci.* 8:632389. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2021.632389</u>

Bowden, D. (2011). Benthic invertebrate samples and data from the Ocean Survey 20/20 voyages to the Chatham Rise and Challenger Plateau, 2007. New Zealand Aquatic Environment and Biodiversity Report No. 65.

Bowden, D., Davey, N., Fenwick, M., George, B., Macpherson, D., Ray, C., Stewart, R., Christensen-Field, C. & Gibson, K. (2017). Quantifying Benthic Biodiversity: a factual voyage report from RV Tangaroa voyage TAN1701 to Chatham Rise 4 January – 2 February 2017. Ministry for Primary Industries, New Zealand.

Bowden, D., Rowden, A., Chin, C., Hempel, S., Wood, B., Hart, A. & Clark, M. (2020). Best practice in seabed image analysis for determining taxa, habitat, or substrata distributions. Fisheries New Zealand. ISSN 1179-6480 (online).

Bracewell, S. (2017). Mechanisms of coexistence and community assembly in marine sessile invertebrates over a latitudinal gradient. (PhD Thesis). University of New South Wales.

Brash, J.M. (2006). Zonation of the benthic communities on Aliwal Shoal. (Master Thesis). University KwaZulu-Natal.

Bridges, A., Barnes, D., Bell, J., Ross, R. & Howell, K. (2022). Depth and latitudinal gradients of diversity in seamount benthic communities. *Journal of Biogeography*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jbi.14355</u>

Broadhurst, M. (2013). The ecology of marine tidal race environments and the impact of tidal energy development. (PhD Thesis). Imperial College London.

Brooks, E., Sloman, JK., Sims, D. & Danylchuk, A. (2011). Validating the use of baited remote underwater video surveys for assessing the diversity, distribution and abundance of sharks in the Bahamas. *Endang Species Res* 13: 231–243. <u>https://doi.org/10.3354/esr00331</u>

Bünz, S., Ramirez-Llodra, E., German, C., Ferre, B., Sert, F., Kalenickenko, D., Reeves, E., Hand, K., Dahle, H., Kutti, T. & Purser, A. (2020). RV Kronprins Håkon (cruise no. 2019708) Longyearbyen–Longyearbyen 19.09.–16.10. 2019.

Buscher, E. (2019). Supporting indigenous marine conservation planning: a case study of the Songhees Nation (Master Thesis). University of Victoria.

Cagney, J., Cox, S. & Booth, D. (2011). Comparison of Point Intercept and Image Analysis for Monitoring Rangeland Transects. *Rangeland Ecol Manage* 64:309–315 | May 2011 | <u>https://doi.org/10.2111/REM-D-10-00090.1</u>

Cameron, S. (2018). The Role of Post-settlement Processes in Determining Fouling Assemblages on Artificial Reefs. (PhD Thesis). Flinders University.

Cameron-Caluori, H. (2014). A preliminary investigation of the potential effects of the invasive Mozambique tilapia *Oreochromis mossambicus* on the native fish assemblages of Lake MacLeod, Western Australia. (Master Thesis). Edith Cowan University.

Cardoso, A. (2019). Efeito da complexidade estrutural de naufrágios sobre a diversidade de espécies de peixes. (Master Thesis). Universidade Federal Da Paraíba.

Carpenter, M. (2012). Benthic habitats of a sub-arctic Fiard-The case study of Okak Bay, Labrador. (Master Thesis). Memorial University of Newfoundland.

Carroll, A., Althaus, F., Beaman, R., Friedman, A., Ierodiaconou, D., Ingleton, T., Jordan, A., Linklater, M., Monk, J., Post, A., Przeslawski, R., Smith, J., Stowar, M., Tran, M. & Tyndall, A. (2018). Marine sampling field manual for towed underwater camera systems. In Field Manuals for Marine Sampling to Monitor Australian Waters, Przeslawski, R. & Foster, S. (Eds). National Environmental Science Programme (NESP). pp. 131-152.

Castellan, G. (2022). The mesophotic zone of the Mediterranean Sea: spatial definition, biodiversity, and predictive models. (PhD Thesis). Universitá di Bologna.

CATAMI Technical Working Group (2013) CATAMI classification scheme for scoring marine biota and substrata in underwater imagery - Technical Report. Accessed [date] Website [http://catami.org/classification] Version 1.4

Celliers, L. (2001). Effects of a crown-of-thorns starfish outbreak relative to other disturbances on marginal, high-latitude coral communities at Sodwana Bay, South Africa (PhD Thesis). University of Natal, Durban.

Chaîneau, C., Hirst, R., Al-Thary, I., Dutrieux, E., Thorin, S., Caragnano, A., Benzoni, F. & Pichon, M. (2010). Results and Lessons Learned from a 3-Year Intensive Coral Communities Monitoring During the Construction of a LNG Plant in Yemen. Paper presented at the SPE International Conference on Health, Safety and Environment in Oil and Gas Exploration and Production, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, April 2010. Paper Number: SPE-126480-MS.

Clark, G. (2011). Modern threats to global biodiversity: Species invasions and shifting ice. (PhD Thesis). University of New South Wales, Australia.

Coggan, R., Populus, J., White, J., Sheehan, K., Fitzpatrick, F. & Piel, S. (eds.) (2007). Review of Standards and Protocols for Seabed Habitat Mapping. MESH.

Colton, M. (2011). Patterns in the Distribution and Abundance of Reef Fishes in South Eastern Australia. (PhD Thesis). The University of Melbourne.

Combs, I. (2019). Characterizing the Impacts of Stony Coral Tissue Loss Disease on Coral in Southeast Florida Using 3D Photogrammetry (PhD Thesis). Florida Atlantic University.

Cundy, M.E., Santana-Garcon, J., Ferguson, A.M., Fairclough, D.V., Jennings, P. & Harvey, E.S. (2017). Baited remote underwater stereo-video outperforms baited downward-facing single-video for assessments of fish diversity, abundance and size composition. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 497: 19-32.

Davies, J. (2012). Mapping Deep-Sea Features in UK Waters For Use in Marine Protected Area Network Design. (PhD Thesis). University of Plymouth.

Davison, D.M. & Hughes, D.J. (1998). Zostera biotopes. An overview of dynamics and sensitivity characteristics for conservation management of marine SACs. Scottish Association for Marine Science (UK Marine SACs Project). 95 Pages.

De Leo, F. (2012). Submarine Canyons: Hotspots of Deep-sea benthis abundance and biodiversity. (PhD Thesis). University of Hawaii, Manoa, USA.

de Mendonça, S.N. & Metaxas, A. (2021) Comparing the Performance of a Remotely Operated Vehicle, a Drop Camera, and a Trawl in Capturing Deep-Sea Epifaunal Abundance and Diversity. *Front. Mar. Sci.* 8:631354.

Deter, J., Descamp, P., Ballesta, L., Boissery, P. & Holon, F. (2012). A preliminary study toward an index based on coralligenous assemblages for the ecological status assessment of Mediterranean French coastal waters. *Ecological Indicators*. 20: 345-352

Dethier, M., Graham, E., Cohen, S. & Tear, L. (1993) Visual versus random-point percent cover estimations: 'objective' is not always better. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 96: 93-100

Diogo, H. & Pereira, D. (2013). Impact evaluation of spear fishing on fish communities in an urban area of Sao Miguel Island (Azores Archipelago). Fisheries Management & Ecology.doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/fme.12036</u>

Doya Le Besnerais, C. (2017). The use of new multiparametric observatory platforms for the remote monitoring and exploration of deep-sea ecosystems at day-night and seasonal temporal scales. (PhD Thesis). Instituto de Ciencias del Mar (ICM) del Consejo Superior de Investigaciones Científicas (CSIC).

Drezner, T. & Drezner, Z. (2021). Informed cover measurement: Guidelines and error for point-intercept approaches. Applications in plant sciences. Appl. Plant Sci. 2021; 9:e11446. https://doi.org/10.1002/aps3.11446

Du Preez, C. (2014). Resolving Relationships between Deep-sea Benthic Diversity and Multi-scale Topographic Heterogeneity. (PhD Thesis). University of Victoria.

Dugan, S. (2020). Epibenthic and Demersal Fish Community Structure and the Effects of Environmental Conditions in the Sub-Arctic Fjords Vengsøyfjorden and Kaldfjorden. UiT – The Arctic University of Norway, Tromsø.

Dumas, P., Bertaud, A., Peignon, C., Léopold, M. & Pelletier, D. (2009). A "quick and clean" photographic method for the description of coral reef habitats. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 368: 161–168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2008.10.002</u>

Dunlop, K.M. (2013). Baited underwater camera studies of the biodiversity and abundance of animals in the temperate, tropical and Antarctic marine environment. (PhD thesis). University of Glasgow.

Durden, J., Bett, B.J. & Ruhl, H. (2015). The hemisessile lifestyle and feeding strategies of losactis vagabunda (Actiniaria, losactiidae), a dominant megafaunal species of the Porcupine Abyssal Plain. *Deep-Sea Research I* 102: 72–77.

Durden, J., Bett, B., Jones, D., Huvenne, V. & Ruhl, H. (2015). Abyssal hills – hidden source of increased habitat heterogeneity, benthic megafaunal biomass and diversity in the deep sea. Progress in Oceanography 137: 209–218. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pocean.2015.06.006

Durden, J. (2016). Spatial and temporal variation in abyssal megabenthic communities, as assessed with seabed photography. (PhD Thesis). University of Southampton.

Durden, J., Bett, B., Schoening, T., Morris, K., Nattkemper, T. & Ruhl, H. (2016). Comparison of image annotation data generated by multiple investigators for benthic ecology. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser*. 552: 61–70. <u>https://doi.org/10.3354/meps11775</u>

Durden, J., Schoening, T., Althaus, F., Friedman, A., Garcia, R., Glover, A., Greinert, J., Jcobsen, N., Jones, D., Jordt, A., Kaeli, J., Köser, K., Kuhnz, L., Lindsay, D., Morris, K., Nattkemper, T., Osterloff, J., Ruhl, H., Singh, H., Tran, M. & Bett, B. (2016). Perspectives in visual imaging for marine biology and ecology: from acquisition to understanding. Oceanography and Marine Biology: An Annual Review. 54: 1-72

Eastman, J., Amsler, M., Aronson, R., Thatje, S., McClintock, J., Vos, S., Kaeli, J., Singh, H. & La Mesa, M. (2012). Photographic survey of benthos provides insights into the Antarctic fish fauna from the Marguerite Bay slope and the Amundsen Sea. *Antarctic Science* 25(1): 31–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954102012000697</u>

Edmunds, M. & Flynn, A. (2018). CBiCS classification of Victorian biotopes. Australian Marine Ecology Report No. 560. In collaboration with Fathom Pacific. Version 1. Report to Dept. of Environment, Land, Water and Planning.

Edwards, R. (2003). An investigation into the biodiversity of a geotextile artificial reef, Narrowneck, Gold Coast, Qld. (Honours Thesis). University of New England.

Ellis, J., Anlauf, H., Kurten, S., Lozano-Cortés, D., Alsaffar, Z., Córdia. J., Jones, B. & Carvalho, S. (2017). Cross shelf benthic biodiversity patterns in the Southern Red Sea. *Scientific Reports*. 7: 437. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-00507-y</u>

Fabri, M., Pedel, L., Beuck, L., Galgani, F., Hebbeldn, D. & Freiwald, A. (2014). Megafauna of vulnerable marine ecosystems in French Mediterranean submarine canyons: Spatial distribution and anthropogenic impacts. *Deep-Sea Research II.* 104: 184–207. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr2.2013.06.016

Abricius, K., Cooper, T., Humphrey, C., Uthicke, S., De'ath, G., Davidson, J., LeGrand, H., Thompson, A. & Schaffelke, B. (2012). A bioindicator system for water quality on inshore coral reefs of the Great Barrier Reef. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*. 65(4-9):320-332.

Fahrbach, E. (2007). Expeditions programme N. 78. RV Polarstern. Stiftung Alfred-Wegener-Institut for Polar[.] und Meeresforschung Mitglied der Hermann von Helmholtz-Gemeinschaft Deutscher Forschungszentren e.v. (hgf).

Fegraus, E., Lin, K., Ahumada, B., Baru, C., Chandra, S. & Youn, C. (2011). Data acquisition and management software for camera trap data: A case study from the TEAM Network. Ecological Informatics 6: 345–353.

Féral, J.P., Fourt, M., Perez, T., Warwick, R.M., Emblow, C., Heip, C. & Van Avesaath, P. (2003). European Marine Biodiversity Indicators. Report of the European Concerted Action: BIOMARE (Implementation and networking of large scale, long term marine biodiversity research in Europe). Publisher: NIOO-CEME Yerseke, the Netherlands.

Fisk, D. (2007). Niue sustainable coastal fisheries pilot project: Marine baseline survey. IWP-Pacific Technical Report (International Waters Project) no. 39. ISBN: 978-982-04-0362-8.

Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission, Fish & Wildlife Research Institute & the National Coral Reef Institute, Nova Southeastern University Oceanographic Center. (2005). Southeast Florida Coral Reef Evaluation and Monitoring Project 2004 Year 2 Final Report. Florida Department of Environmental Protection.

Florisson, J. (2015). Can recreational fishers provide an effective means of monitoring artificial reefs? (Honours Thesis). Murdoch University.

Foster, M., Harrold, C. & Hardin, D. (1991). Point vs. photo quadrat estimates of the cover of sessile marine organisms. *J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol.* 146: 193-203.

Fraschetti, S., Bianchi, N., Terlizzi, A., Fanelli, G., Morri, C. & Boero, F. (2001). Spatial variability and human disturbance in shallow subtidal hard substrate assemblages: a regional approach. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 212: 1–12.

Freeman, L. & Freeman, S. (2016). Rapidly obtained ecosystem indicators from coral reef soundscapes. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser* 561: 69–82. <u>https://doi.org/10.3354/meps11938</u>

Freeman, L. (2013). Oceanographic Controls on Coral Reef Habitats in Present and Future Climates. (PhD Thesis). University of California, San Diego.

Friedrich, J., Aleynik, D., Becke, R., Eulenburg, A., Kusch, S., Mee, L., Minicheva, G., Shapiro, G., Soloviev, D., Stevens, T. & Teaxa, A. (2008). Cruise report POS 363 RV" Poseidon" [POS363], March 7 to 25 2008, Varna/Varna. Alfred Wegener Institute for Polar and Marine Research.

Galbraith, G.F., Cresswell, B.J., McCormick, M.I., Bridge, T.C. & Jones, G.P. (2021). High diversity, abundance and distinct fish assemblages on submerged coral reef pinnacles compared to shallow emergent reefs. *Coral Reefs*, 40(2): 335-354.

Galil, B. (2004). The limit of the sea: the bathyal fauna of the Levantine Sea. *SCIENTIA MARINA. MAR.*, 68 (Suppl. 3): 63-72

Gasbaro, R. (2017). Benthic ecology in two British Columbian fjords: compositional and functional patterns. (Master Thesis). University of Victoria.

Gilliam, D. (2012). Southeast Florida Coral Reef Evaluation and Monitoring Project 2011 Year 9 Final Report :1 -49. <u>https://nsuworks.nova.edu/occ_facreports/72</u>

Goldsworthy, P. (2010). Nearshore Antarctic reef assemblages: influence of sedimentation and benthic irradiance. (PhD Thesis). University of Tasmania.

Gomes-Pereira, J., Auger, V., Beisiegel, K., Benjamin, R., Bergmann, M., Bowden, D., Buhl-Mortensen, P., De Leo, F., Dionisio, G., Durden, J., Edwards, L., Friedman, A., Greinert, J., Jacobsen-Stout, N., Lerner, S., Leslie, M., Natkemper, T., Sameoto, J., Schoening, T., Schouten, R., Seager, J., Singh, H., Soubigou, O., Tojeira, I., van den Beld, I., Dias, F., Tempera, F. & Santos, R. (2016). Current and future trends in marine image annotation software. *Progress in Oceanography*. 149: 106-120

González-Rivero, M., Beijbom, O., Rodriguez-Ramirez, A., Holtrop, T., González-Marrero, Y., Ganase, A., Roelfsema, C., Phinn, S. & Hoegh-Guldberg, O. (2016). Scaling up ecological measurements of coral reefs using semi-automated field image collection and analysis, *Remote Sensing*, 8(1): 30. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/rs8010030</u>

Gorham, T. (2014). Impacts of Shrimp Trawling on Community Composition of the Macrobenthic Fauna of Western Greenland. (Master Thesis). Imperial College London.

Grange, L., and Smith, C. (2013) Megafaunal Communities in Rapidly Warming Fjords along the West Antarctic Peninsula: Hotspots of Abundance and Beta Diversity. *PLoS ONE* 8(11): e77917. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0077917</u>

Griffin, K. (2018). Using seascape ecology to explore human impacts in marine ecosystems. (PhD Thesis). University of New South Wales.

Gustafson, M. (1986). A Scientific Application for Remotely Operated Vehicles. (Master Thesis). 373. <u>https://digitalcommons.uri.edu/ma_etds/373</u>

Hale, R., Colton, M., Peng, P. & Swearer, S. (2019). Do spatial scale and life history affect fish–habitat relationships? *J Anim Ecol*; 88:439–449. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12924</u>

Halliday, J., Edhouse, S., Lohrer, D., Thrush, S. & Cummings, V. (2013). Mahurangi Estuary ecological monitoring programme: report on data collected from July 1994 to January 2013. Prepared by NIWA for Auckland Council. Auckland Council technical report, TR2013/038.

Halse, S. (2016). Towards standardised reef fish monitoring; An assessment of stereo-video techniques to sample shallow and deep reef fish assemblages. (Master Thesis). Rhodes University.

Haymaker, C. (2022). Scleractinian Coral Community Demographics and Recruitment Patterns in Southeast Florida. (Master Thesis). Florida Atlantic University.

Heery, E. (2017). Benthic subtidal assemblages and ecological processes in urbanized seascapes of Puget Sound, Washington, USA (PhD Thesis). University of Washington.

Hinchen, H., Gallyot, J., Carter, A., Ferguson, M., Webb, K., Nelson, M. & Jenkins, C. (2021). Detecting the impacts on UK sublittoral rock communities of resuspended sediments from fishing activity. *Ecological Indicators* 125; 107545. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2021.107545</u>

Hitchin, R., Turner, J.A. & Verling, E. (2015). Epibiota remote monitoring from digital imagery: Operational guidelines. JNCC. NMBAQC.

Houk, P., Benavente, D. & Johnson, S. (2012). Watershed-based coral reef monitoring across Tutuila, American Samoa: Summary of decadal trends and 2013 assessment. University of Guam Marine Laboratory Technical Report 169.

Howell, K., Davies, J., Jacobs, C. & Narayanaswamy, B. (2009). Broad scale survey of the habitats of Rockall Bank and mapping of Annex I Reef habitat. *JNCC Report 422*. JNCC, Peterborough. ISSN 0963-8091. <u>https://hub.jncc.gov.uk/assets/51a0ca61-cbda-414e-b358-153019b3a45a</u>

Huertas, V., Morais, R.A., Bonaldo, R.M. & Bellwood, D.R. (2021). Parrotfish corallivory on stress-tolerant corals in the Anthropocene. *PLoS ONE* 16(9): e0250725. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0250725</u>

Hughes, S., Jones, D., Hauton, C., Gates, A. & Hawkins, L. (2010). An assessment of drilling disturbance on *Echinus acutus var. norvegicus* based on in-situ observations and experiments using a remotely operated vehicle (ROV). *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 395 (2010) 37–47

Huvenne, V., Bett, B., Masson, D., Le Bas, T. & Wheeler, A. (2016). Effectiveness of a deepsea cold-water coral Marine Protected Area, following eight years of fisheries closure. *Biological Conservation* 200: 60–69. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2016.05.030</u>

ICES. (2013). Report of the ICES\NAFO Joint Working Group on Deep-water Ecology (WGDEC), 11–15 March 2013, Floedevigen, Norway. ICES CM 2013/ACOM:28. 95 pp.

International Council for the Exploration of the Sea-ICES (2011). Report of the Working Group on Marine Habitat Mapping (WGMHM), 10–13 May 2011, Calvi, France. ICES CM 2011/SSGSUE:05. 88 pp.

Jamieson, A., Boorman, B. & Jones, D. (2013). Deep-Sea Benthic Sampling. In: Methods for the Study of Marine Benthos. Eleftheriou, A. (Ed). John Wiley & Sons.

Jeffery, N., Heaslip, S., Stevens, L. & Stanley, R. (2020). Biophysical and Ecological Overview of the Eastern Shore Islands Area of Interest (AOI). Research Document 2019/025. Canadian Science Advisory Secretariat (CSAS).

Jeffery, N.W., Heaslip, S.G., Stevens, L.A. & Stanley, R.R., (2020). Biophysical and ecological overview of the Eastern Shore Islands Area of Interest (AOI). Canadian Science Advisory Secretariat (CSAS).

Johnson, J., Hardin, D. & Spies, R. (1985). An investigation of the effects of discharged drilling fluids from exploratory drilling on hard bottom communities in the Western Santa Barbara channel. to: University of Plymouth.

Jokiel, P.L. & Brown, E.K. (2000). Hawaii Coral Reef Initiative Coral Reef Assessment and Monitoring Program (CRAMP) Final Report 1998-99. National Ocean Service. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration.

Jones, E.G. (1999). Burial at Sea; Consumption and Dispersal of Large Fish and Cetacean Food-Falls by Deep Sea Scavengers in the Northeast Atlantic Ocean and Eastern Mediterranean Sea. (PhD Thesis). University of Aberdeen.

Jones, D., Bett, B. & Tyler, P. (2007). Megabenthic ecology of the deep Faroe–Shetland channel: A photographic study. Deep-Sea Research I 54: 1111–1128. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr.2007.04.001</u>

Jones, D.O.B., Bett, B.J., Wynn, R.B. & Masson, D.G. (2009). The use of towed camera platforms in deep-water science. *International Journal of the Society for Underwater Technology*. 28(2): 41-50

Jones, A.M. & Berkelmans, R. (2014). Flood Impacts in Keppel Bay, Southern Great Barrier Reef in the Aftermath of Cyclonic Rainfall. *PLoS ONE* 9(1): e84739. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0084739</u>

Jonker, M., Johns, K. & Osborne, K. (2008). Surveys of benthic reef communities using underwater digital photography and counts of juvenile corals. Long-term monitoring of the Great Barrier Reef. Australian Institute of Marine Science.

Kaplanis, N.J., Edwards. C.B., Eynaud, Y. & Smith, J.E. (2020). Future sea-level rise drives rocky intertidal habitat loss and benthic community change. PeerJ. 8:e9186 <u>http://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.9186</u>

Karl, J., McCord, S. & Hadley, B. (2017). A comparison of cover calculation techniques for relating point-intercept vegetation sampling to remote sensing imagery. *Ecological Indicators* 73: 156–165. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2016.09.034</u>

Kays, R., Arbogast, B., Baker-Whatton, M., Beirne, C., Boone, H., Bowler, M., Burneo, S., Cove, M., Ding, P., Espinosa, S., Sousa, A., Hansen, C., Jansen, P., Kolowski, J., Knowles, T., Moreira, M., Millspaugh, J., McShea, W., Pacifici, K., Parsons, A., Pease, B., Rovero, F., Santos, F., Schuttler, S., Sheil, D., Si, X., Snider, M. & Spironello, W. (2020). An empirical evaluation of camera trap study design: How many, how long and when? *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 11(6): 700.713

Keck, A. (2018). Recolonization and succession of a subtidal hard-bottom epibenthic community in Smeerenburgfjorden, NW Svalbard. (Master Thesis). UIT- The Artic University of Norway.

Keesing, J. (2011). Coastal ecosystem characterisation, benthic ecology, connectivity and client delivery modules. Annexure A – Research Chapters. Wamsi Node 1 Project 2 Final Report. CSIRO.

Kelley, C., Wagner, D., Elliott, K., Lobecker, E. & Maxon A. (2019). Cruise EX-15-04 Leg 2— 2015 Hohonu Moana: Exploring the Deep Waters off Hawaii (ROV/Mapping). Office of Ocean Exploration and Research, National Oceanographic & Atmospheric Administration, Silver Spring, MD 20910. OER Expedition Cruise Report, 121p. <u>https://doi.org/10.25923/rzp3-6k44</u>

Kennedy, E. (1976). A distribution study of deep-sea macrobenthos collected from the western Gulf of Mexico. Texas A&M University.

Kenyon, N.H. & Akhmetzhanov, A.M. (1998). Cold water carbonate mounds and sediment transport on the Northeast Atlantic margin - Preliminary results of geological and geophysical investigations during the TTR-7 cruise of R/V Professor Logachev. UNESCO.

Kilfoil, J. (2020). Understanding, Quantifying, and Reducing Bias in Fisheries-independent Visual Surveys. (PhD Thesis). 4445. Florida International University.

Knight, A. (2011). The Distribution of Demersal Fishes Over Heterogeneous Seafloor Habitats: An Application of Landscape Ecology to Video Imagery Collected in a Central California State Marine Conservation Area. (Master Thesis). California State University.

Kortsch, S. (2010). Long-term patterns (1980-2008) in the structure of a rocky-bottom macrobenthic community in Smeerenburgfjord, northwest Svalbard: assessment of density and cover using image analysis. Master Thesis. University of Tromsø. Norway.

Kraus, R., Hill, R., Rooker, J. & Dellapenna, T. (2006). Preliminary Characterization of a Midshelf Bank in the Northwestern Gulf of Mexico as Essential Habitat of Reef Fishes. 57th Gulf and Caribbean Fisheries Institute. GCFI:57.

Kuo, C.-Y., Tsai, C.-H., Huang, Y.-Y., Heng, W.K., Hsiao, A.-T., Hsieh, H.J. & Chen, C.A. (2022). Fine intervals are required when using point intercept transects to assess coral reef status. *Front. Mar. Sci.* 9:795512. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2022.795512</u>

Lacharité, M. (2017). Factors influencing the abundance, composition and diversity of deepwater benthic megafaunal communities. (PhD Thesis). Dalhousie University.

Lamb, R., Smith, F., Aued, A., Salinas.de.León, P., Suarez, J., Gomez-Chiarri, M., Smolowitz, R., Giray, C. & Witman, J. (2018). El Niño drives a widespread ulcerative skin disease outbreak in Galapagos marine fishes. *Scientific Reports*. 8:16602. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-34929-z</u>

Langlois, T., Williams, J., Monk, J., Bouchet, P., Currey, L., Goetze, J., Harasti, D., Huveneers, C., Ierodiaconou, D., Malcolm, H. & Whitmarsh, S. (2018). Marine sampling field manual for benthic stereo BRUVS (Baited Remote Underwater Videos). In Field Manuals for Marine Sampling to Monitor Australian Waters, Przeslawski, R. & Foster, S. (Eds). National Environmental Science Programme (NESP). pp. 82-104.

Lanham, B. (2019). The effects of altered habitat structure on fish and their prey in vegetated marine communities (PhD Thesis) University of New South Wales, Sydney.

Lauzon-Guay, J. (2007). Spatial Dynamics of Feeding Fronts of Sea Urchins (*Strongylocentrotus droebachiensis*). (PhD Thesis). The University of New Brunswick.

Law, L. (2018). Distribution, biodiversity, and function of glass sponge reefs in the Hecate Strait, British Columbia, Canada. (Master Thesis). University of Alberta.

Lee, W. (2012). The ecological role of feeding disturbances of the Atlantic horseshoe crab, *Limulus polyphemus*. (PhD Thesis). University of New Hampshire.

Lento, J. (2010). Habitat space and energy availability as determinants of size distributions of lotic assemblages. (PhD Thesis). University of Ottawa.

Lim, A., Kane, A., Arnaubec, A., Wheeler, A. (2018). Seabed image acquisition and survey design for cold water coral mound characterisation. *Marine Geology*. 395:22-32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.margeo.2017.09.008</u> Lim, A., Wheeler, A. & Arnaubec, A. (2017). High-resolution facies zonation within a coldwater coral mound: the case of the 2 Piddington Mound, Porcupine Seabight, *NE Atlantic. Marine Geology*. 390. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.margeo.2017.06.009</u>

Linley, T., Stewart, A., McMillan, P., Clark, M., Gerringer, M., Drazen, J., Fuji, T. & Jamieson, A. (2017). Bait attending fishes of the abyssal zone and hadal boundary: Community structure, functional groups and species distribution in the Kermadec, New Hebrides and Mariana trenches. *Deep–Sea Research Part I*. 121: 38–53

Linse, K., Copley, J., Connelly, D., Larter, R., Pearce, D., Polunin, N., Rogers, A., Chen. C., Clarke, A., Glover, A., Graham, A., Huvenne, V., Marsh, L., Reid, W., Roterman, N., Sweeting, C., Zwirglmaier, K. & Tyler, P. (2019). Fauna of the Kemp Caldera and its upper bathyal hydrothermal vents (South Sandwich Arc, Antarctica). *R. Soc. open sci.* 6: 191501. http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/rsos.191501

Logan, J.M., Young, M.A., Harvey, E.S., Schimel, A.C. & Ierodiaconou, D. (2017). Combining underwater video methods improves effectiveness of demersal fish assemblage surveys across habitats. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 582, pp.181-200

Lohrer, D., Townsend, M. & Morrison, M. 2008. Change in the benthic assemblages of the Waitemata Harbour Invasion risk as a function of community structure. Biosecurity New Zealand Technical Paper No: 2008/17. Prepared for BNZ Pre-clearance Directorate.

Lopez-Garrido, P.H., Barry, J.P., González-Gordillo, J.I. & Escobar-Briones, E. (2020). ROV's Video Recordings as a Tool to Estimate Variation in Megabenthic Epifauna Diversity and Community Composition in the Guaymas Basin. *Front. Mar. Sci.* 7:154. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2020.00154</u>

Lorders, FL., Miranda, RJ., Nunes, J. & Barros, F. (2018). Spongivory by Fishes on Southwestern Atlantic Coral Reefs: No Evidence of Top-Down Control on Sponge Assemblages. *Front. Mar. Sci.* 5:256. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2018.00256</u>

Ludvigsen, M. (2010). An ROV toolbox for optical and acoustical seabed investigations. (PhD Thesis). Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Norway.

Magagna, D., Lauri, C., Butler, M. & Bristow, C. (2014). 4.17 Report on environmental monitoring protocols. Work Package 4: Research. MARINET. 35pp.

McClain, C., Lundsten, L., Barry, J. & DeVogelaere, A. (2010). Assemblage structure, but not diversity or density, change with depth on a northeast Pacific seamount. Marine Ecology. ISSN 0173-9565. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0485.2010.00367.x</u>

McIntyre, A. (1973). Studies on Marine Zoobenthos. University of Glasgow (United Kingdom).

McLean, D., Cure, K., Abdul Wahab, M., Galaiduk, R., Birt, M., Vaughan, B., Colquhoun, J., Case, M., Radfors, B, Stowar, M., Harries, S., Heyward, A. & Miller, K. (2021). A comparison of marine communities along a subsea pipeline with those in surrounding seabed areas. *Continental Shelf Research* 219. 104394

Mello, H. (2021). The Effect of Marine Protection on New Zealand Bryozoa. (PhD Thesis). University of Otago.

Meyer, H., Roberts, E., Rapp, H. & Davies, A. (2019). Spatial patterns of arctic sponge ground fauna and demersal fish are detectable in autonomous underwater vehicle (AUV) imagery. *Deep-Sea Research Part I* 153. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr.2019.103137</u>

Miranda, R.J., Nunes, José.de.Anchieta, C.C., Mariano-Neto, E., Sippo, J.Z. & Barros, F. (2018). Do invasive corals alter coral reef processes? An empirical approach evaluating reef fish trophic interactions, *Marine Environmental Research*. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2018.03.013

Monk, J., Barrett, N., Bridge, T., Carroll, A., Friedman, A., Ierodiaconou, D., Jordan, A., Kendrick, G. & Lucieer, V. (2020). Marine sampling field manual for autonomous underwater vehicles (AUVs). In Field Manuals for Marine Sampling to Monitor Australian Waters, Version 2. Przeslawski, R. & Foster, S. (Eds). National Environmental Science Program (NESP).

Moore, J., Van Rein, H., Benson, A., Sotheran, I., Mercer, T. & Ferguson, M. (2019). Optimisation of Benthic Image Analysis Approaches, *JNCC Report 641*, JNCC, Peterborough, ISSN 0963-8091. <u>https://hub.jncc.gov.uk/assets/3dbf346b-685c-4db1-90a1b205af482146</u>

Morais, J. (2018). Recifes profundos funcionam como refúgios? um teste com corais do Atlântico Sul. (Master Thesis). Universidade Federal da Paraíba.

Morais, P., Borges, T. C., Carnall, V., Terrinha, P., Cooper, C. & Cooper, R. (2007). Trawlinduced bottom disturbances off the south coast of Portugal: Direct observations by the 'Delta' manned-submersible on the Submarine Canyon of Portimão. *Marine Ecology*. 28: 112–122. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0485.2007.00175.x</u>

Moray Offshore Renewables Ltd. (2010). Environmental Impact Assessment Scoping Report Eastern Development Area. Offshore Wind Farm Infrastructure: Offshore Wind Turbines, Substations & Interarray Cables. SeaEnergy Renewables.

Morris, K., Bett, B., Durden, J., Huvenne, V., Miligan, R., Jones, D., McPhail, S., Robert, K., Bailey, D. & Ruhl, H. (2014). A new method for ecological surveying of the abyss using autonomous underwater vehicle photography. *Limnol. Oceanogr. Methods* 12: 795–809. http://dx.doi.org/10.4319/lom.2014.12.795

Morris, N. (2007). The Artificial Reef Effect of World War II Era Shipwrecks in the Northern Gulf of Mexico. (Master Thesis). The University of West Florida. National Research Council. (1996). Undersea vehicles and national needs. National Academies Press.

Nemani, S. (2022). A species. And traits-based approach to predictive mapping of the distribution and diversity of coastal benthic assemblages. (Master Thesis). Memorial University of Newfoundland.

Niemann, H., Linke, P., Knittel, K., MacPherson, E., Boetius, A., Brückmann, W., Larvik, G., Wallmann, K., Schacht, U., Omoregie, E., Hilton, D., Brown, K. & Rehder, G. (2013). Methane-Carbon Flow into the Benthic Food Web at Cold Seeps – A Case Study from the Costa Rica Subduction Zone. *PLoS ONE* 8(10): e74894. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0074894

Nieva, L. (2019). Effects of in situ oceanic warming on marine benthic recruitment and community development in Antarctica. (PhD Thesis). Bangor University.

Norkko, A., Andrew, N., Thrush, S., Cummings, V., Schwarz, A.M., Hawes, I., Mercer, S., Budd, R., Gibbs, M., Funnell, G. & Hewitt, J. (2002). Ecology and biodiversity of coastal benthic communities in McMurdo Sound, Ross Sea: development of sampling protocols and initial results. Final Res Rep NZ Ministry Fisheries Res Project ZBD2001/02. Objectives 1, 2 & 3. National Institute of Water and Atmospheric Research.

O'Brien, T. (2010). Wildlife Picture Index: Implementation Manual Version 1.0. WCS Working Papers No. 39.

Obura, D. & Grimsditch, G. (2009). Resilience assessment of coral reefs: assessment protocol for coral reefs, focusing on coral bleaching and thermal stress. IUCN Resilience Science Group Working Paper Series – No 4.

Obura, D., Stone, G., Mangubhai, S., Bailey, S., Ypshinaga, A., Holloway, C. & Barrel, R. (2011). Baseline Marine Biological Surveys of the Phoenix Islands, July 2000. *Atoll Research Bulletin*. 589:1–61. https://doi.org/10.5479/si.00775630.589.1

Okano, Y. (2012). Evaluation of Coral Reef Seascape in Ahiki Kinau, Maui with Perspectives in Landscape Ecology. (Master Thesis). University of Hawaii.

Pacunski, R., Lowry, D., Selleck, J., Beam, J., Hennings, A, Wright, E., Hillier, L., Palsson, W. & Tsou, T. (2020). Quantification of bottomfish populations, and species-specific habitat associations, in the San Juan Islands, WA employing a remotely operated vehicle and a systematic survey design. Marine Fish Science Unit. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife.

Palma, M. (2018). The application of Structure from Motion photogrammetry as innovative method to assess marine benthic habitats and support their management. (PhD Thesis). Universita Politecnica delle Marche.

Pantaleo, U. (2016). Biogenic habitat distribution and effect on coastal erosion phenomena relating to coastal peculiarities. (PhD Thesis). Università Politecnica delle Marche.

Pante, E. & Dustan, P. (2012). Getting to the point: accuracy of point count in monitoring ecosystem change. Journal of Marine Biology.

Parker, J. (2019). Geographical and Temporal Changes of Reef Fish (Labridae) Assemblages: A Case Study of South Western Australia (PhD Thesis). Curtin University.

Perkins, N., Foster, S., Hill, N. & Barret, N. (2016). Image subsampling and point scoring approaches for large-scale marine benthic monitoring programs. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science* 176; 36-46. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2016.04.005</u>

Perkins, N., Zhang, Z., Monk, J. & Barret, N. (2022). The annotation approach used for marine imagery impacts the detection of temporal trends in seafloor biota. Ecological Indicators 140. 109029.

Pitcher, C.R., Doherty, P., Arnold, P., Hooper, J., Gribble, N., Bartlett, C., Browne, M., Campbell, N., Cannard, T., Cappo, M., Carini, G., Chalmers, S., Cheers, S., Chetwynd, D., Colefax, A., Coles, R., Cook, S., Davie, P., De'ath, G., Devereux, D., Done, B., Donovan, T., Ehrke, B., Ellis, N., Ericson, G., Fellegara, I., Forcey, K., Furey, M., Gledhill, D., Good, N., Gordon, S., Haywood, M., Hendriks, P., Jacobsen, I., Johnson, J., Jones, M., Kinninmoth, S., Kistle, S., Last, P., Leite, A., Marks, S., McLeod, I., Oczkowicz, S., Robinson, M., Rose, C., Seabright, D., Sheils, J., Sherlock, M., Skelton, P., Smith, D., Smith, G., Speare, P., Stowar, M., Strickland, C., Van der Geest, C., Venables, W., Walsh, C., Wassenberg, T., Welna, A. & Yearsley, G. (2007). Seabed Biodiversity on the Continental Shelf of the Great Barrier Reef World Heritage Area. AIMS/CSIRO/QM/QDPI CRC Reef Research Task Final Report. 320 pp.

Porteiro, F.M., Gomes-Pereira, J.N., Pham, C.K., Tempera, F. & Santos, R.S. (2013). Distribution and habitat association of benthic fish on the Condor seamount (NE Atlantic, Azores) from in situ observations. *Deep Sea Research Part II*: Topical Studies in Oceanography, 98: 114-128.

Preskit, L., Vroom, P. & Smith, C. (2004). A rapid Ecological Assessment (REA) quantitative survey method for benthic algae using photoquadrats with scuba. *Pacific Science*, 58(2):201-209.

Price, D.M., Lim, A., Callaway, A., Eichhorn, M.P., Wheeler, A.J., Lo Iacono, C. & Huvenne, V.A.I. (2021). Fine-Scale Heterogeneity of a Cold-Water Coral Reef and Its Influence on the Distribution of Associated Taxa. *Front. Mar. Sci.* 8:556313. http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2021.556313

Provencher St-Pierre, A. (2020). Kelp-urchin dynamics: Stability and thresholds for phase shifts in Newfoundland and the Gulf of St. Lawrence (PhD Thesis) Memorial University of Newfoundland.

Przeslawski, R. & Foster, S. [Eds.]. (2018). Field Manuals for Marine Sampling to Monitor Australian Waters, Version 1. 2018. Report to the National Environmental Science Programme, Marine Biodiversity Hub. 212pp. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.11636/9781925297669</u>

Pyle, R., Boland, R., Bolick, H., Bowen, B., Bradley, C., Kane, C., Kosaki, R. & Langston, R. (2016). A comprehensive investigation of mesophotic coral ecosystems in the Hawaiian Archipelago. PeerJ 4:e2475; <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.7717/peerj.2475</u>

Quattrini, A., Georgian, S., Byrnes, L., Stevens, A., Falco, R. & Cordes, E. (2013). Niche divergence by deep-sea octocorals in the genus *Callogorgia* across the continental slope of the Gulf of Mexico. *Molecular Ecology*. doi: 10.1111/mec.12370

Relles, N., Jones, D. & Mishra, D. (2012). Creating Landscape-Scale Maps of Coral Reef Cover for Marine Reserve Management from High-Resolution Multispectral Remote Sensing. *GIScience & Remote Sensing*, 49:2, 251-274, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2747/1548-1603.49.2.251</u>

Relles, N. (2012). A Case Study in the Effectiveness of Marine Protected Areas (MPAs): the Islands of Bonaire and Curacao, Dutch Caribbean. (PhD Thesis). 1539616821. The College of William & Mary.

Reynolds, J., Greene, H. Woodby, D., Kurland, J. & Allee, B. (2008). Workshop Report: Marine Habitat Mapping Technology Workshop for Alaska April 2-4, 2007 Anchorage, Alaska. Alaska Sea Grant College Program, University of Alaska Fairbanks. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.4027/mhmta.2008.17</u>

Richardson, A., Burges, G., Sheperd, C. & Weber, S. (2019). First record of an Odontaspidid shark in Ascension Island waters. Arquipelago - Life and Marine Sciences. ISSN: 0873-4704

Robert, K. (2014). Evaluation of local- and medium-scale habitat heterogeneity as proxy for biodiversity in deep-sea habitats. (PhD Thesis). University of Southampton.

Roberts, D., Fitzhenry, S. & Kennelly, S. (1994). Quantifying subtidal macrobenthic assemblages on hard substrata using a jump camera method. *J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol.* 177: 157-170.

Robinson, C., Hay, D., Booth, J. & Truscott, J. (1996). Standard Methods for Sampling Resources and Habitats in Coastal Subtidal Regions of British Columbia, Part 2: Review of Sampling with Preliminary Recommendations. Fisheries & Oceans Canada, Science Branch, Pacific Region, Pacific Biological Station. Canadian Technical Report of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences.

Rowden, A., Kröger, K. & Clark, M. (2012). Biodiversity of macroinvertebrate and fish assemblages of the northwestern Ross Sea shelf. New Zealand Aquatic Environment and Biodiversity Report No p101-111.

Rubin, S.P., Miller, I.M., Foley, M.M., Berry, H.D., Duda, J.J., Hudson, B., Elder, N., Beirne, M., Warrick, J., McHenry, M., Stevens, A., Eidam, E., Ogston, A., Gelfenbaum, G. & Pedersen, R. (2017). Increased sediment load during a large-scale dam removal changes nearshore subtidal communities. *PLoS ONE* 12(12): e0187742. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0187742

Saunders, G., Bedford, G.S., Trendall, J.R. & Sotheran, I. (2011). Guidance on survey and monitoring in relation to marine renewables deployments in Scotland. Volume 5. Benthic Habitats. Unpublished draft report to Scottish Natural Heritage and Marine Scotland.

Scarborough Bull, A., Nishimoto, M., Love, M., Clark, S., Seeto, K., McCrea, M., Park, C., Kui, L., Jainese, C., Aziz, A. & Angie, J. (2023). Comparison of methods (ROV, diver) used to estimate the composition and abundance of biota colonizing an offshore oil platform: A pilot study. *Continental Shelf Research*. 252. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csr.2022.104856</u>

Schellinger, J. (2013). Hardbottom Sessile Macroinvertebrate Communities of the Apalachee Bay Region of Florida's Northeastern Gulf of Mexico. Retrieved from http://purl.flvc.org/fsu/fd/FSU_migr_etd-7595

Schläppy, M., Šaškov, A. & Dahlgren, T. (2014). Impact hypothesis for offshore wind farms: Explanatory models for species distribution at extremely exposed rocky areas. *Continental Shelf Research* (2013). <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.csr.2013.11.018i</u>

Schmid, K., Silva, F.R.M., Santos, B.J.V., Bezerra, N.P.A., Garla, R.C. & Giarrizzo, T. (2020). First fish fauna assessment in the Fernando de Noronha Archipelago with BRUVS: Species catalog with underwater imagery. *Biota Neotropica* 20(4): e20201014. https://doi.org/10.1590/1676-0611-BN-2020-1014

Schultz, L. (2015). Fish assemblages of unconsolidated substrata in the Solitary Islands Marine Park using baited remote underwater video. (PhD Thesis). Southern Cross University.

https://researchportal.scu.edu.au/discovery/fulldisplay/alma991012820887902368/61SCU_I NST:ResearchRepository

Schweitzer, C.C. & Stevens, B.G. (2019). The relationship between fish abundance and benthic community structure on artificial reefs in the Mid-Atlantic Bight, and the importance of sea whip corals *Leptogorgia virgulata*. PeerJ 7:e7277. <u>http://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.7277</u>

Sciberras, M. (2012). Marine protected areas: efficacy, implementation and management. (PhD Thesis). Bangor University.

Sciberras, M., Hinz, H., Bennell, J., Jenkins, S., Hawkins, S. & Kaiser, M. (2013). Benthic community response to a scallop dredging closure within a dynamic seabed habitat. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 480: 83–98. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3354/meps10198</u>

Scotti, G., Consoli, P., Esposito, V., Chemello, R., Romeo, T. & Andaloro, F. (2017). Marine caves of the Southern Tyrrhenian Sea: a First Census of Benthic Biodiversity. *J Marine Sci Res Dev.* 7:7. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.4172/2155-9910.1000238</u>

Seagreen A1 Ltd. (2020). Benthic Ecology Validation Survey Report. LF000012-RPS-001-REP-C17-001-04. 62pp.

Secci, M., Biancacci, C., Giglioli, A., Loddo, D., Pasquini, V., Pusceddu, A. & Addis, P. (2019). Geostatistical approach to investigate spatial patterns of the endangered fan mussel *Pinna nobilis* (Linnaeus, 1758). Regional Studies in Marine Science 32. 100884.

Sen, A., Åström, E., Hong, W., Portnov, A., Waae, M., Serov, P., Carroll, M. & Carroll, J. (2018). Geophysical and geochemical controls on the megafaunal community of a high Arctic cold seep. *Biogeosciences*. 15: 4533–4559. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-15-4533-2018

Shelamoff, V. (2020). Influence of Ecklonia radiata patch characteristics on associated communities. (PhD Thesis). University of Tasmania.

Si, X., Kays, R. & Ding, P. (2014). How long is enough to detect terrestrial animals? Estimating the minimum trapping effort on camera traps. PeerJ 2:e374.

Simon-Lledó, E., Bett, B., Huvenne, V., Schoening, T., Benoist, N. & Jones, D. (2019). Ecology of a polymetallic nodule occurrence gradient: Implications for deep-sea mining. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 9999; 1–12. doi: 10.1002/lno.11157

Simon-Lledó, E., Bett, B., Huvenne, V., Schoening, T., Benoist, N., Jeffreys, R., Dirden, J. & Jones, D. (2019). Megafaunal variation in the abyssal landscape of the Clarion Clipperton Zone. *Progress in Oceanography* 170;119–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pocean.2018.11.003

Sinmkanin, C. (2013). Marine Bioinvasions in Anthropogenic and Natural Habitats: an Investigation of Nonindigenous Ascidians in British Columbia. (PhD Thesis). University of Victoria, Canada.

Skinner, C., Mill, A.C., Newman, S.P., Alsagoff, S.N. & Polunin, N.V. (2020). The importance of oceanic atoll lagoons for coral reef predators. *Marine Biology*. 16719): 1-16

Somerfield, P., Jaap, W., Clarke, K., Callahan, M., Hackett, K., Porter, J., Lybolt, M., Tsokos, C. & Yanev, G. (2008). Changes in coral reef communities among the Florida Keys, 1996–2003. *Coral Reefs* 27:951–965. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00338-008-0390-7</u>

Spadaro, A (2019). Cryptic Herbivorous Invertebrates Restructure the Composition of Degraded Coral Reef Communities in the Florida Keys, Florida, USA. (PhD Thesis). Biological Sciences, Old Dominion University.

Stegemann, K. (2013). Spatio-temporal patterns of faunal distribution along a near-pristine estuarine edge environment. (Master Thesis). James Cook University.

Stobart, B., Buckley, R., LeClair, L., Teleki, K., Downing, N., Souter, D. & Callow, M. (2002). Aldabra: Monitoring the path to recovery. Coral Reef Degradation in the Indian Ocean, 5(6), p.232.

Stone, G., Kristof, E., Coccia, J. & Cole, R.M. (1998). Deep-Sea research with ropecam video system in Kaikoura Canyon, New Zealand. Marine Technology Society. *Marine Technology Society Journal*, 32(2), p.56

Szuster, B. & Needham, M. (2010). Marine recreation at the Molokini Shoal MLCD. Final project report for Hawaii Division of Aquatic Resources, Department of Land and Natural Resources. Honolulu: University of Hawaii at Mānoa, Department of Geography

Tanner, J., Mellin, C., Parrot, L. & Bradshaw, C. (2015). Fine-scale benthic biodiversity patterns inferred from image processing. *Ecological Complexity* 22: 76–85

Taormina, B., Marzloff, M., Desroy, N., Caisey, X., Dugornay, O., Thiesse, E., Tancray, A. & Carlier, A. (2020a). Optimizing image-based protocol to monitor macroepibenthic communities colonizing artificial structures. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 77(2): 835–845. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsz249

Taormina, B., Percheron, A., Marzloff, M., Caisey, X., Quillien, N., Lejart, M., Desroy, N., Durgornay, O., Tancray, A. & Carlier, A. (2020b). Succession in epibenthic communities on artificial reefs associated with marine renewable energy facilities within a tide-swept environment. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*. 77(7-8): 2656–2668. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsaa129

Tarsa, G. (2021). Round Goby, *Neogobius melanostomus*, Abundance and Productivity in the Rocky Nearshore Zone of Lake Michigan. (Master Thesis). University of Wisconsin Milwaukee.

Thornycroft, R. (2012). Videographic analysis of the Coelacanth, *Latimera chalumnae* and associated habitats in the Isimangaliso Wetland Park, Kwazulu-Natal, South Africa (Master Thesis). Rhodes University.

Todd, V., Susini, I., Williamson, L., Todd, I., McLean, D. & Macredie, P. (2021). Characterizing the second wave of fish and invertebrate colonization of an offshore petroleum platform. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*. https://academic.oup.com/icesjms/article/78/3/1131/6145865

Torres-Moye, G. (2012). Mainland and Island Kelp Forests in Northern Baja California, Mexico: Subtidal Community Structure, Dynamics, and Connectivity for the Design of Marine Protected Areas. (PhD Thesis). University of California, USA.

Tran, M. (2013). Mapping and predicting benthic habitats in estuaries using towed underwater video. (Master Thesis). University of Sydney.

Trygonis, V. & Sini, M. (2012). photoQuad: A dedicated seabed image processing software, and a comparative error analysis of four photoquadrat methods. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 424–425: 99–108. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2012.04.018

Turner, J.A., Hitchin, R., Verling, E. & Van Rein, H. (2016). Epibiota remote monitoring from digital imagery: Interpretation guidelines. JNCC. NMBAQC

Tyrrell, M. (2004). Strategic plan for mapping Massachusetts' benthic marine habitats. Massachusetts Office of Coastal Zone Management, Boston, MA.p. 55.

Usmar, N. (2010). Ontogeny and ecology of snapper (*Pagrus auratus*) in an estuary, the Mahurangi Harbour. (PhD Thesis). University of Auckland.

Van Audenhaege, L., Broad, E., Hendry, K.R. & Huvenne, V.A.I. (2021). High-Resolution Vertical Habitat Mapping of a Deep-Sea Cliff Offshore Greenland. *Front. Mar. Sci.* 8:669372. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2021.669372

Van Rein, H., Schoeman, D., Brown, C., Quinn, R. & Breen, J. (2011). Development of benthic monitoring methods using photoquadrats and scuba on heterogeneous hard-substrata: a boulder-slope community case study. *Aquatic Conserv: Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst.* 21: 676–689. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.1224</u>

Van Rein, H., Schoeman, D., Brown, C., Quinn, R. & Breen, J. (2011). Development of lowcost image mosaics of hard-bottom sessile communities using SCUBA: comparisons of optical media and of proxy measures of community structure. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0025315411000233</u>

Vance, T. (2011). The response of marine assemblages to ocean acidification. (PhD Thesis). Newcastle University.

Vardi, T. (2011). Chapter 3: Quantifying surface area of a structurally complex, endangered reef-building coral, *Acropora palmata*. In: Vardi, T. (2011). The threatened Atlantic elkhorn coral, *Acropora palmata*: population dynamics and their policy implications. (PhD Thesis). University of California, San Diego, USA.

Walsh, W., Sparks, R., Barnett, C., Couch, C., Cotton, S., White, D., Stone, K. & Conklin, E. (2010). Long-Term Monitoring of Coral Reefs of the Main Hawaiian Islands: Final Report. 2009 NOAA Coral Reef Conservation Program. State of Hawaii Monitoring Report NA06NOS4260113 10/01/2006 - 09/30/2010. Hawaii Division of Aquatic Resources.

Walton, M. (2013). Do Marine Protected Areas Facilitate Coral Reef Ecosystem Health? An investigation of coral disease and its associated factors in Oahu's marine life conservation districts. (Master Thesis). University of Hawaii.

Wartenberg, R. (2012). On the underwater visual census of Western Indian Ocean coral reef fishes. (Master Thesis). Rhodes University.

Weijerman, M., Beavers, S., Marrack., L. & Most, R. (2014). Baseline assessment of the coral reef habitat in Kaloko-Honokōhau National Historical Park adjacent to the proposed Honokohau Harbor expansion and development, Kona Kai Ola, 2006-2007.Technical Report No. 189. Pacific Cooperative Studies Unit, University of Hawaii, Honolulu, Hawaii. 52 pp.

Whomersley, P., Wilson, C., Clements, A., Brown, C., Long, D., Leslie, A. & Limpenny, D. (2010). Understanding the marine environment – seabed habitat investigations of submarine structures in the mid Irish Sea and Solan Bank Area of Search (AoS). *JNCC Report 430*. JNCC, Petersborough. ISSN 0963-8091. <u>https://hub.jncc.gov.uk/assets/08332d00-7b24-4237-82f5-d5e06c887d8f</u>

Widmer, L., Heule, E., Colombo, M., Rueegg, A., Indermaur, A., Ronco, F. & Salzburger, W. (2019). Point- Combination Transect (PCT): Incorporation of small underwater cameras to study fish communities. *Methods Ecol Evol*. 10: 891–901. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13163</u>

Wildish, D.J., Pohle, G.W., Hargrave, B.T., Sutherland, T. & Anderson, R. (2005). Benthic monitoring methods for habitat management of finfish mariculture in Canada. Fisheries & Oceans, Canadian Science Advisory Secretariat.
Williams, A., Schlacher, T., Rowden, A., Althaus, F., Clark, M., Bowden, D., Stewart, R., Bax, N., Consalvey, M. & Kloser, R. (2010). Seamount megabenthic assemblages fail to recover from trawling impacts. *Marine Ecology*. 31: 183-199

Yip Hung, Y. (2019). Baseline, demography and bioerosion of Hong Kong coral communities. (Master Thesis). Hong Kong Baptist University.

Zhulay, I., Bluhm, B.A., Renaud, P.E., Degen, R. & Iken, K. (2021). Functional Pattern of Benthic Epifauna in the Chukchi Borderland, Arctic Deep Sea. *Front. Mar. Sci.* 8:609956. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2021.609956</u>

Zhulay, I., Iken, K., Renaud, P. & Bluhm, B. (2019). Epifaunal communities across marine landscapes of the deep Chukchi Borderland (Pacific Arctic). *Deep-Sea Research Part I* 151. 103065.

Ziegler, A. (2019). Environmental Drivers of Benthic Community Structure and Function in Fjords of the West Antarctic Peninsula. (PhD Thesis). University of Hawaii.